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Competent Person Statement
The information in this report relating to exploration results is based on information compiled by Patrick Hanna who is a fellow of the Australasian
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and is a consultant (through Hanna Consulting Services) to Cokal Ltd.
Mr Hanna is a qualified geologist and has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under
consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking, to qualify as Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the “Australasian Code
for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves”.
Mr Hanna consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on the information, in the form and context in which it appears.
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Chairman’s Letter to Shareholders

Chairman’s Letter to Shareholders
Dear Shareholders
It is with great pride that I am able to present the first annual report of Cokal on behalf of the Board of Directors and
the management of the company.
During the course of what has been a busy year the company has been transformed into what we believe will become
a globally significant player in the metallurgical coal sector. The acquisition of Jack Doolan Capital in December, 2010,
has brought to the company a new direction with a focus on the exploration and development of high quality
metallurgical coal projects. The four projects in Central Kalimantan represent a great opportunity to take a leading
role in the development of what is an underdeveloped metallurgical coal basin.
Metallurgical Coal is a commodity which has experienced strong price support in recent times with FY11 standing out
as one its best years. These prices are widely predicted to remain strong as the large emerging economies of China
and India continue to grow. Steel, a key ingredient in construction, infrastructure, cars, and heavy industry, demands
growing supplies of metallurgical coal. The growth in the supply of this valuable commodity continues to struggle to
keep up with the demand as the world’s two largest populated countries undergo ever increasing urbanisation.
We see Indonesia and South east Africa emerging as two of the most promising new sources of metallurgical coal.
Both regions are well positions geographically to compete with the traditional suppliers of our commodity into what
are the largest growth consumers.
Cokal has assembled a strong team of coal professionals with proven track records in the coal industry. While the
mining industry has undergone continued consolidation there are those that are attracted to the energetic and
positive work environment that Cokal provide. We are experiencing strong interest from quality people at a time
when the large companies are complaining of a skills shortage.
Most of the company’s value will be driven in the near term by development of the projects in Central Kalimantan into
production. The Bumi Barito Mineral (BBM) project has been the focus our drilling to date with results confirming the
presence of high quality metallurgical coal. Some of the coal seams at BBM have such low in‐situ ash that they do not
require the construction of major coal processing equipment to meet export product specifications. The company is
likely to see its first mine developed at BBM where access to barging provides a far simpler and quicker means of
accessing the seaborne traded markets than many of the competing basins around the world. Mapping of the surface
outcrops is occurring at the other three projects to define drill locations ahead of the implementation drilling
programs.
We have commenced drilling in Tanzania. Cokal has farmed into projects which will allow us to test the known
extensions of the Karoo belt for the presence of metallurgical coal seams. In adjoining Mozambique we have entering
to an agreement to farm into projects which will be provided by the government owned Empresa Moçambicana de
Exploração Mineira (EMEM – Mozambique Mining Exploration Company). We look towards South East Africa as
providing longer term upside and resource growth potential.
To date the company has been successful in raising the funds it needs to progress its plans and has built a strong
register of both retail and institutional support. We are working towards the declaration of JORC compliant resources
on our projects in Central Kalimantan as the next major step in our process of growing shareholder value.
I would like to recognise the efforts and thank the management and staff of Cokal in building a dynamic and
professional company with commitment and enthusiasm.
On behalf of the company I would like to thank you for your on‐going support as we strive to achieve our vision of
becoming a significant player in the global metallurgical supply sector.

Peter Lynch
Chairman

Review of Operations
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Review of Operations
ACQUISTION OF JDC
Completion of the acquisition of JDC and coal projects in Kalimantan, Indonesia
As announced on 23 December 2010, Cokal Limited (“Cokal”) (formerly Altera Resources Limited) proceeded to
complete the acquisition of Jack Doolan Capital Pty Ltd (“JDC”). The JDC acquisition comprised three components:
1.
2.

3.

The option to acquire four strategically located coal exploration projects in Kalimantan, Indonesia.
Concurrent with the completion of the JDC acquisition, the previous directors of Cokal resigned and were
replaced with directors and management comprising highly experienced, qualified and well regarded
professionals in the coal exploration and mining industry.
Completion of a $20.0 million capital raising at $0.30 per share.

Further details of the terms of the JDC acquisition, as well as the terms of the acquisition of the four Indonesian coal
projects, can be found within the Explanatory Memorandum forwarded to shareholders in respect of the general
meeting that was held on 30 November 2010.
Change of company name
Altera Resources Limited officially changed its name to Cokal Limited at an Extraordinary General Meeting held in
Brisbane on 21 February 2011. The change of name was made to reflect the proposed new focus to explore for coking
coal from four tenements in the Indonesia territory of Kalimantan.
Board and management
Following the JDC acquisition, the new Board and management include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Peter Lynch (Mining Engineer, Executive Chairman) – previous President, CEO and Director of Waratah Coal,
also General Manager Oaky North coal mine.
Jim Middleton (Mining Engineer, Managing Director/CEO) – previous experience with Coal Allied, Exxon,
Glencore, Xstrata and BHP (VP Mining Operation, Illawara Coal).
Patrick Hanna (Geologist, Executive Director) – vast worldwide coal exploration experience.
Domenic Martino (Corporate Non‐Executive Director) – experienced junior exploration company director and
past CEO of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Ltd in Australia.
Chris Turvey (coal geologist) – exploration, resource estimation, geological modelling.
Duncan Cornish (CFO and Company Secretary) – capital raising, financial, secretarial and corporate
experience for principally exploration companies on ASX, TSX and AIM.

EXPLORATION ‐ INDONESIA
The four Indonesian coal exploration projects
The principal purpose of the JDC acquisition was to acquire a share of the following projects:
•
•

50% of the shares in companies which own the Bumi Barito Mineral (BBM) and Borneo Bara Prima (BBP)
projects located in Central Province, Kalimantan, Indonesia. The BBM project area comprises approximately
20,000 hectares and the BBP project comprises 13,000 hectares.
75% of the shares in companies which own the Anugerah Alam Katingan (AAK) and Anugerah Alam Manuhing
(AAM) projects also located in Central Province, Kalimantan, Indonesia. The AAK project area comprises 5,000
hectares and the AAM project comprises 10,000 hectares.

These exploration projects are within the highly prospective Central Kalimantan coking coal basin, with both BBP &
BBM adjacent to BHP Billiton’s coking coal tenements. These tenements have several surface coal outcrops within
their boundaries with high potential, based on visual observations.
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BBM
BBM is located immediately adjacent to BHPB’s Juloi project and is bisected by the Barito River.
Drilling commenced at the BBM project during the March 2011 quarter. This drilling followed mapping that was
conducted earlier in the quarter. Australian Laboratory results confirmed premium quality metallurgical coal at the
BBM project. Results from 4 cores and one channel sample confirm multiple seams.
Coal quality ranges from premium coking coal to ultra low volatile PCI, all with highly sought qualities (refer Table 1
and Table 2).
Table 1: Showing the range of product coal qualities which result from the samples analysed from exploration to date.
Some products are raw in‐situ while others post float sink testing (@1.6RD) with a laboratory yields ranging from
76.8% to 83.9%
Ash
%

Vols.
%

Fixed
Carbon
%

Moisture
ad
%

Total
Sulphur
%

Phos %

Calorific
Value
Kcal/kg

CSN

Vitrinite
Content
%

Ultra Low
Vol PCI

4.7‐5.8

6.7‐7.2

86.1‐86.9

1.4‐1.5

0.45

≤0.005

8144‐8236

0

95.8‐96.9

Low Vol
PCI

2.8‐8.8

13.3‐13.7

77.2‐82.7

0.8‐2.4

0.32‐0.45

≤0.005

7806‐8548

0

94.5‐96.8

Blend
Coking Coal

4.6‐5.7

15.4‐15.7

78.5‐79.4

0.3‐0.4

0.33‐0.35

≤0.005

8266‐8348

4.5‐7

94.8‐95.2

Premium
Coking Coal

3.6‐4.2

18.2‐19.3

76.5‐77.4

0.2‐0.3

0.4‐0.49

≤0.005

8322‐8404

>9

95.2‐97.8

Product

Table 2: Relative location of exploration results obtained from the BBM project

Hole /
Sample

Easting
(local
Grid)

Northing
(local
Grid)

Collar
RL

BBM001

275,793

9,761,801

BBM002

276,794

BBM003

angle
o

Remark

Depth to
1st Coal
(m)

Nett
Coal
(m)

No seams
/ plys

Depth to
base Coal
(m)

109

90

Drillhole

25.90

4.19

4

39.25

9,763,332

91

90

Drillhole

23.70

6.21

5

40.63

276,665

9,762,193

198

90

Drillhole

18.10

5.17

5

54.60

BBM004

277,640

9,763,961

227

90

Drillhole

63.80

3.30

3

72.60

Channel
Sample

281,566

9,760,555

194

90

Outcrop

5.70

1.30

1

7.0

(m)

Drilling continued at the BBM project in Central Kalimantan during the June 2011 quarter. Additional drilling rigs
commenced in BBM during this quarter to focus on areas where high quality metallurgical can be defined for early
mining potential.
This drilling continues on from the mapping and initial single drill work undertaken previously.
BBP
This exploration tenement has had some preliminary investigations and a mapping team inspection to check the coal
outcrops and help provide additional data for the design of a drilling program
AAK & AAM
A mapping team has done preliminary investigations on coal outcrops in AAM, and this is also planned for AAK before
the end of 2011. Identification of key exploration areas will be done after this data is collated.
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Further 10% interests in BBM and BBP projects
On 30 June 2011 Cokal entered into an agreement to purchase an additional 10% of both BBM and BBP projects. The
purchase of the additional equity will take Cokal’s ownership of each of the two projects to 60%.
Under the terms of the agreement Cokal will purchase an additional 10% of the shares in two PMA holding companies
PT Bumi Barito Mineral and PT Borneo Bara Prima. The transaction is subject to the normal regulatory and corporate
approvals. Upon the satisfactory completion of certain corporate and regulatory approvals, Cokal will pay the vendors
total consideration of US$8.0 million plus 1.0 million ordinary shares in Cokal Limited.
EXPLORATION ‐ AUSTRALIA
Inglewood Coal Joint Venture
Cokal entered into a Joint Venture (“JV”) with Dragon Energy Limited (“Dragon”) on its Queensland Coal Project in the
Surat/Clarence‐Moreton and Bowen Basins on 1 July 2010, the details of which are disclosed in the Company’s
Quarterly Report for 30 June 2010 lodged with the ASX on 30 July 2010. The terms of the JV require expenditure by
Dragon of at least $3.5 million over 3 years to earn an 85% interest. The first year’s commitment by Dragon will be
$0.5 million in exploration expenditure plus rents and environmental bonds, with second and third year expenditure
commitments of $1.5 million each. Once Dragon has earned an 85% interest, Cokal has the option to sell the
remaining 15% interest in the Project to Dragon for an amount as agreed between Dragon and Cokal, and failing an
agreement, an amount determined by an independent expert. Subject to the above option, Cokal will retain a 15%
free carried interest until decision to mine.
The Farm‐in Joint Venture (“Inglewood Coal JV”) with Dragon Energy Ltd (Dragon) comprises Exploration Permits for
Coal (EPCs) in the Surat/Clarence‐Moreton and Bowen Basins in Queensland.
Dragon advised Cokal to exclude certain granted tenements from the JV, detailed in the following paragraph. The JV
now consists of EPC’s 1650, 1651, 1653, 1661, 1666 & 1667. Three EPC’s 1650, 1651 and 1653 are going through the
Native Title process and are likely to be granted during 2011. The Company has signed a heritage agreement with
Barada Barna Native Title group which will lead to the granting of EPC1653 in the Bowen Basin.
Queensland Coal Tenements
During the December 2010 quarter, Dragon advised Cokal that it wishes removal of a total of seven EPC applications
(1648, 1649, 1652, 1660, 1662, 1664 and 1665) from the Inglewood Coal JV and a deed of variation was executed. A
review of the coal potential within EPCs 1648 and 1660 undertaken by IMC during the December 2010 quarter has
shown that significant potential exists for coal deposits in the Evergreen formation and Cokal maintains a 100%
interest in these tenements.
Cokal will undertake a strategic review of these tenements in the coming year.
Gascoyne Base Metals Project
The Gascoyne Base Metal Project (GBMP) is located approximately 250 km to the east of Carnarvon in the Gascoyne
region of Western Australia. GBMP is a joint venture between Cokal and ABM Resources NL (ABM), whereby Cokal
was earning a 65% interest in GBMP.
During the September 2010 quarter, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the JV tenements from ABM Resources
NL and as a result the joint venture agreement with ABM Resources NL was terminated. All tenements comprising the
project were subsequently disposed of to an unrelated third party during the December 2010 quarter.
Cokal has no further interest in the GBMP.
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EXPLORATION ‐ TANZANIA
Joint Venture signed to explore for coal in Tanzania
On 24 January 2011, Cokal announced the signing of a Joint Venture (JV) agreement to explore for coal in Tanzania.
The JV is with private company, Tanzoz Resources Ltd which has been active in Tanzania since 2007, and currently
holds interests in Tanzania for uranium, gold and coal.
Under the terms of the JV, Cokal will earn a 50% interest in an existing exploration project and will act as manager for
the expenditure of a minimum of A$500,000 by the 31 December 2011. Cokal will also expend a minimum of
A$1,000,000 by 31 December 2011, to earn a 60% interest on a range of other potential projects considered
prospective for coal in Tanzania.
Under the terms of the JV, the JV also has the right to any coal opportunities on any of Tanzoz’s current or future coal
opportunities in Tanzania, subject to the meeting of minimum funding requirements in‐line with a 60:40 equity split.
CORPORATE
The Company incurred an after tax operating loss for the half‐year ended 31 December 2010 of $461,625 (half‐year
ended 31 December 2009 loss of $394,087).
CAPITAL RAISINGS
Concurrent with the completion of the JDC acquisition Cokal completed a $20.0 million capital raising on 23 December
2010 at $0.30 per share. The raising was undertaken through professional investors by Soaring Securities Pty Ltd and
managed by Ochre Management Pty Ltd.
On 13 April 2011 the Company also completed a non‐brokered private placement to Passport Capital LLC and
associated entities raising $12.0 million (16 million ordinary shares at $0.75 per share).
EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO 31 DECEMBER 2010
Co‐Operation Agreement Signed with Mozambique Government Owned EMEM
Cokal signed a “Co‐operation Agreement” with Empresa Moçambicana de Exploração Mineira (EMEM – Mozambique
Mining Exploration Company) to, explore tenements in Mozambique for coal mining potential and jointly develop
mines and associated facilities.
EMEM is a state owned corporation formed by the Mozambique government in order to participate in mining
projects, undertake exploration and mining development as well as promoting value addition to mineral products. The
formation of EMEM followed recognition by the Mozambique Government that coal was pivotal to the country’s
future economic development in the interest of all Mozambiquans.
Mozambique is developing a major coking coal basin and is poised to become Africa’s major coking coal producer, and
a major player in the world coking coal market. Projects in this basin are being developed by international mining
companies including Vale (Brazil), Riversdale (Rio Tinto), Revubue (Nippon Steel, Posco et al).

Director’s Report
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Directors' Report
Your directors present their report for the year ended 30 June 2011.
The following persons were directors of Cokal Limited during the financial year and up to the date of this report,
unless otherwise stated:
Peter Lynch (appointed 24 December 2010)
B.Eng (Mining)
Executive Chairman
Since graduating with a Mining Engineering degree in 1988, Mr Lynch has held various positions, within the coal
industry in Australia, as mining engineer, project manager, mine manager, general manager and managing director
culminating most recently in the role, from January 2006 until January 2010, as the President, CEO and Director of
Waratah Coal Inc., a TSX listed company which was taken over by the Mineralogy Group in December 2008, having
reached a peak market capitalisation of CAD300 million. Other highlights include:
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾

Mining Engineer, 47, over 24 years experience mainly in coal
Proven track record in coal project evaluation, development and operation
Responsible for design and construction of one of Australia’s best producing longwall projects, Oaky North
Ex‐CEO of Waratah Coal responsible for putting the Galilee basin on the map, visionary development plan
Ex‐MD APC, MacArthur Coal operating entity expanded to 6Mtpa
Strong following in Nth American Capital Markets, WCI.TSX‐V

Peter is a member of the Audit Committee.
During the past three years Peter has also served as a Director of the following ASX listed companies:
 Waratah Coal Inc. (from 7 December 2006 to 22 December 2008) (ASX listed from 10 November 2008 to 13
January 2009)
Pat Hanna (appointed 24 December 2010)
B. Applied Science (Geology), CP, FAusIMM
Executive Director
Mr Hanna has over 30 years experience as a coal geologist in the areas of exploration and evaluation including
planning, budgeting and managing drilling programmes in Australia and Indonesia, gained since graduating from the
University of New South Wales in 1976. Mr Hanna has authored and co‐authored numerous coal industry publications.
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾
¾

Geologist, 56, over 30 years experience all in coal
Extensive experience in Indonesian coal
Exploration Manager for Riversdale Mining, principal responsibility for discovery and documentation of new
coking coal basin in Mozambique
Ex‐member of JORC committee
Principal Geologist SRK Australia 6 yrs
Author of 19 technical publications
Reviewed and consulted on over 40 coal projects globally
Highly experienced and respected

Pat is a member of the Audit Committee.
Jim Middleton (appointed 24 December 2010)
BE (Mining‐Hons)
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
Mr Middleton has since 1981 held various positions, technical, operational, exploration and corporate in the coal
industry in Australia including time with Coal Allied, Exxon, Glencore, Xstrata culminating most recently as Vice
President‐Mining Operations, IIlawarra Coal owned by BHP Billiton.
¾
¾
¾

Mining Engineer, 47, over 29 years all coal mining experience
Highly successful career with the majors, BHPB, Xstrata, Glencore, Exxon Coal, Coal & Allied
Designed and built Xstrata’s highest ROI United Longwall Project, 12 month payback
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Part of gathering first assets for Glencore to form the basis of Xstrata float
Head of operations for BHPB Illawarra Coal 8Mtpa, three mine, coking coal project
Success in strategy, exploration, project delivery and operations
Reputation for low cost, high production and innovation.

Domenic Martino (appointed 24 December 2010)
B. Bus, FCPA
Non‐Executive Director
Mr Martino is a Chartered Accountant and an experienced director of ASX listed companies. Previously CEO of Deloitte
Touch Tohmatsu in Australia, he has significant experience in the development of "micro‐cap" companies.
¾ Former CEO Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Australia
¾ Key player in the re‐birth of a broad grouping of ASX companies including Sydney Gas, Pan Asia, Clean Global
Energy, NuEnergy Capital
¾ Strong reputation in China and HKSE Clive Palmer’s Resourcehouse Ltd, ARH
¾ Lengthy track record of operating in Indonesia, successfully closed key energy and resources deals with key local
players
¾ Proven track record in capital raisings across a range of markets
During the past three years Peter has also served as a Director of the following ASX listed companies:
 Pan Asia Corporation Limited * (since 24 December 2010)
 Synergy Plus Limited * (since 7 July 2006)
 Australasian Resources Limited * (since 27 November 2003)
 Clean Global Energy Limited * (since 9 October 2009)
* denotes current directorship
Domenic is the Chairman of the Audit Committee.
Harjinder Kehal (resigned 24 December 2010)
B. Sc (Hons), MMEE
Chairman
Mr Kehal, with a Bachelor of Science (Hons) from the University of Western Australia and Master of Mineral and
Energy Economics from Macquarie University, is a geologist with over 20 years experience in precious metals,
industrial metals and base metals within Australia, China, India and Vietnam. He has extensive experience in project
evaluation, feasibility studies, joint venture negotiations and statutory reporting.
Nick Archibald (resigned 25 August 2010)
B. Sc (Hons), PhD, FTSE, FAIG, FGSA, FSEG, FAusIMM (CP)
Non‐Executive Director
Mr Archibald, with a Bachelor of Science from James Cook University and a PhD from the University of Western
Australia, has over 35 years of minerals and industry experience and is best known for his work with the Australian
and North American explorations industries.
During the past three years Nick has also served as a Director of the following ASX listed companies:
 ABM Resources NL (from 23 November 2009 to 31 December 2010)
 Clancy Exploration Ltd (from 17 July 2003 to 22 January 2009) (ASX listed from 11 July 2007)
Jeremy Shervington (resigned 24 December 2010)
B. Juris, L.LB
Non‐Executive Director
Mr Shervington operates a legal practice in Western Australia. He specialises in the laws regulating Companies and
the Securities industry in Australia. Mr Shervington has since 1985 served as a director of various ASX listed
companies as well as a number of unlisted public and private companies.
During the past three years Nick has also served as a Director of the following ASX listed companies:
 Australian Zircon Ltd * (since 16 February 1998)
 Prairie Downs Metals Ltd (from 11 October 2002 to 25 August 2011)
 Emerald Oil & Gas NL * (since 23 January 2006
 Industrial Minerals Corporation Ltd (from 17 February 2004 to 10 March 2011)
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 Northern Manganese Limited, formerly called Western Uranium Ltd (from 11 May 2006 to 4 March 2010)
 Papillon Resources Limited, formerly called Colonial Resources Ltd (since 11 May 2006 to 27 May 2011)
 Stirling Resources Ltd (from 27 July 2009 to 18 June 2010)
 Horseshoe Metals Limited * (since 14 December 2006) (ASX listed from 29 July 2010)
 Ridge Resources Ltd * (since 11 November 2010) (ASX listed from 17 August 2011)
* denotes current directorship
Bradley Abbott (resigned 24 December 2010)
B. Bus, CA
Non‐Executive Director and Company Secretary
Mr Abbott is a founding director of Abbott’s Pty Ltd, a Chartered Accounting Practice based in Perth, Western
Australia. He has been in Public accounting since 1975 with main areas of speciality of small business, agriculture,
mining and estate planning. Mr Abbott holds a Bachelor of Business degree from Curtin University and is a fellow of
the Taxation Institute of Australia and the Institute of Chartered Accountants and is a registered Company auditor.

Mr Duncan Cornish was the company secretary of Cokal Limited from 24 December 2010 and up to the date of this
report.
Duncan Cornish (appointed 24 December 2010)
B.Bus (Accounting), CA
Company Secretary, CFO
Duncan is an accomplished and highly regarded corporate administrator and manager. He has many years experience
in pivotal management roles in capital raisings and stock exchange listings for numerous companies on the ASX, AIM
Market of the London Stock Exchange and the Toronto Stock Exchange. Highly skilled in the areas of company financial
reporting, company regulatory, secretarial and governance areas, business acquisition and disposal due diligence, he
has worked with Ernst & Young and PricewaterhouseCoopers both in Australia and the UK.
Duncan is currently Company Secretary and CFO of other listed companies on the ASX and TSX‐V where he has
assisted in their listing and capital raising. He is supported by a small experienced team of accountants and
administrators.
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND OPTIONS
As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares and options of Cokal Limited are shown in the
table below:

Ordinary
Shares

Unlisted
Options
$0.30 @
31/12/12 *

Unlisted
Options
$0.20 @
29/1/12 *

Unlisted
Options
$0.20 @
1/2/12 *

Unlisted
Options
$0.50 @
29/12/14 *

Unlisted
Options
$0.75 @
29/12/14 *

Peter Lynch

55,000,000

5,500,000

‐

‐

‐

‐

Jim Middleton

10,000,000

1,000,000

‐

‐

5,000,000

5,000,000

Pat Hanna

25,000,000

2,500,000

‐

‐

‐

‐

Domenic Martino

36,513,334

3,500,000

80,000

666,667

‐

‐

* expiry dates of the options

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the consolidated entity during the financial year were focused on the identification and
development of coal within the highly prospective Central Kalimantan coking coal basin in Indonesia. The
consolidated entity has also signed a joint venture to explore for coal in Tanzania with Tanzoz Resources.
OPERATING RESULTS
For the year ended 30 June 2011, the loss for the consolidated entity after providing for income tax was $2,643,913
(2010: $773,376).
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DIVIDENDS PAID OR RECOMMENDED
There were no dividends paid or recommended during the financial year.
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Detailed comments on operations and exploration programs up to the date of this report are included separately in
the Annual Report under Review of Operations.
REVIEW OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
Capital structure
On 24 December 2010, a capital raising of 66,666,669 ordinary shares at a price of $0.30 was completed, as part of the
requirements for the acquisition of Jack Doolan Capital Pty Ltd. Further details of the acquisition are included in Note
24.
On 24 December 2010, 210 million ordinary shares and 21 million options were issued as consideration for the
acquisition of the net assets of Jack Doolan Capital Pty Ltd. Further details of the acquisition are included in Note 24.
On 19 April 2011, a private placement to institutional investors of 16,000,000 ordinary shares at a price of $0.75 was
completed.
During the year ended 30 June 2011, 3,188,932 ordinary shares were issued on exercise of options at prices varying
between $0.10 and $0.20 each.
At 30 June 2011, the consolidated entity had 338,585,735 ordinary shares, 13,196,357 listed options and 37,825,000
unlisted options on issue.
Subsequent to year end, 1,470,000 ordinary shares were issued on exercise of options at prices varying between $0.10
and $0.20 each.
At the date of this report, the consolidated entity had 340,055,735 ordinary shares, 12,776,357 listed options and
41,775,000 unlisted options on issue.
Financial position
The net assets of the consolidated entity have increased by $33,585,047 from $2,639,639 at 30 June 2010 to
$36,224,686 at 30 June 2011. This increase has largely resulted from the following factors:
 Successfully raising capital;
 Increasing the consolidated entity’s (capitalised) exploration expenditure, partly offset by;
 Operating losses.
The consolidated entity’s working capital, being current assets less current liabilities has increased from $2,624,807 in
2010 to $9,146,310 in 2011.
During the past year the consolidated entity has invested in the identification and development of coal within the
Central Kalimantan coking coal basin in Indonesia and in a joint venture to explore for coal in Tanzania with Tanzoz
Resources.
Treasury policy
The consolidated entity does not have a formally established treasury function. The Board is responsible for managing
the consolidated entity’s finance facilities.
Some goods and services purchased by the consolidated entity, along with the payments made to the vendors of the
Kalimantan coal projects, are in foreign currencies (US dollars or Indonesian Rupiah).
The consolidated entity does not currently undertake hedging of any kind.
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Liquidity and funding
The consolidated entity has sufficient funds to finance its operations and exploration activities, and to allow the
consolidated entity to take advantage of favourable business opportunities, not specifically budgeted for, or to fund
unforeseen expenditure.
SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
Change of name
Altera Resources Limited officially changed its name to Cokal Limited at an Extraordinary General Meeting held in
Brisbane on 21 February 2011. The change of name was made to reflect the proposed new focus to explore for coking
coal from four tenements in the Indonesia territory of Kalimantan.
Completion of the acquisition of JDC and coal projects in Kalimantan, Indonesia
On 23 December 2010 the acquisition of Jack Doolan Capital Pty Ltd (“JDC”) was completed. The JDC acquisition
comprised three components:
4.
5.

6.

The option to acquire four strategically located coal exploration projects in Kalimantan, Indonesia.
Concurrent with the completion of the JDC acquisition, the previous directors of Cokal resigned and were
replaced with directors and management comprising highly experienced, qualified and well regarded
professionals in the coal exploration and mining industry.
Completion of a $20.0 million capital raising at $0.30 per share.

Further details of the terms of the JDC acquisition, as well as the terms of the acquisition of the four Indonesian coal
projects, can be found within the Explanatory Memorandum forwarded to shareholders in respect of the general
meeting that was held on 30 November 2010.
Capital raising
On 24 December 2010, a capital raising of 66,666,669 ordinary shares at a price of $0.30 was completed, as part of the
requirements for the acquisition of Jack Doolan Capital Pty Ltd. Further details of the acquisition are included in Note
24.
On 24 December 2010, 210 million ordinary shares and 21 million options were issued as consideration for the
acquisition of the net assets of Jack Doolan Capital Pty Ltd. Further details of the acquisition are included in Note 24.
On 19 April 2011, a private placement to institutional investors of 16,000,000 ordinary shares at a price of $0.75 was
completed.
Options exercised
During the year ended 30 June 2011, 3,188,932 ordinary shares were issued on exercise of options at prices varying
between $0.10 and $0.20 each.
AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS
On 13 July 2011 the consolidated entity announced that it had signed a ‘Co‐operation Agreement’ with Empresa
Moçambicana de Exploração Mineira (EMEM – Mozambique Mining Exploration Company) to, explore tenements in
Mozambique for coal mining potential and jointly develop mines and associated facilities.
Also, subsequent to year end, 1,470,000 ordinary shares were issued on exercise of options at prices varying between
$0.10 and $0.20 each and 3,000,000 unlisted $1.10 options and 2,000,000 unlisted $1.50 options, exercisable on or
before 5 September 2015, were issued to an employee of the Group.
There have been no other events since 30 June 2011 that impact upon the financial report as at 30 June 2011.
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FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS, PROSPECTS AND BUSINESS STRATEGIES
Likely developments in the operations of the consolidated entity and the expected results of those operations in
subsequent financial years have been discussed where appropriate in the Annual Report under Review of Operations.
There are no further developments of which the Directors are aware which could be expected to affect the results of
the consolidated entity’s operations in subsequent financial years other than information which the Directors believe
comment on or disclosure of, would prejudice the interests of the consolidated entity.
ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES
The consolidated entity is subject to environmental regulation in relation to its exploration activities. There are no
matters that have arisen in relation to environmental issues up to the date of this report.
REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each Director of Cokal Limited, and for the key
management personnel.
Remuneration policy
The performance of the consolidated entity depends upon the quality of its directors and executives. To prosper, the
consolidated entity must attract, motivate and retain highly skilled directors and executives.
The Board does not presently have Remuneration and Nomination Committees. The directors consider that the
consolidated entity is not of a size, nor are its affairs of such complexity, as to justify the formation of any other
special or separate committees at this time. All matters which might be dealt with by such committees are reviewed
by the directors meeting as a Board.
The Board, in carrying out the functions of the Remuneration and Nomination Committees, is responsible for
reviewing and negotiating the compensation arrangements of senior executives and consultants.
The Board, in carrying out the functions of the Remuneration and Nomination Committees, assess the
appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of such officers on a periodic basis by reference to
relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the
retention of a high quality Board and executive team. Such officers are given the opportunity to receive their base
remuneration in a variety of forms including cash and fringe benefits. It is intended that the manner of payments
chosen will be optimal for the recipient without creating undue cost for the consolidated entity.
The consolidated entity aims to reward the Executive Directors and senior management with a level and mix of
remuneration commensurate with their position and responsibilities within the consolidated entity. The Board’s
policy is to align director and executive objectives with shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed
remuneration component and offering short and/or long‐term incentives as appropriate.
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non‐executive directors, Executive Directors
and senior management remuneration is separate and distinct.
Non‐executive director remuneration
The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level which provides the consolidated entity with the ability to
attract and retain directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost which is acceptable to shareholders.
The Constitution of Cokal Limited and the ASX Listing Rules specify that the non‐executive directors are entitled to
remuneration as determined by the consolidated entity in a general meeting to be apportioned among them in such
manner as the Directors agree and, in default of agreement, equally. The aggregate remuneration currently
determined by Cokal Limited is $500,000 per annum. Additionally, non‐executive directors will be entitled to be
reimbursed for properly incurred expenses.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued)
If a non‐executive director performs extra services, which in the opinion of the directors are outside the scope of the
ordinary duties of the director, the consolidated entity may remunerate that director by payment of a fixed sum
determined by the directors in addition to or instead of the remuneration referred to above. However, no payment
can be made if the effect would be to exceed the maximum aggregate amount payable to non‐executive directors. A
non‐executive director is entitled to be paid travel and other expenses properly incurred by them in attending
directors’ or general meetings of Cokal Limited or otherwise in connection with the business of the consolidated
entity.
The remuneration of the sole non‐executive director for the year ending 30 June 2011 is detailed in this Remuneration
Report.
Executive Director and senior management remuneration
The consolidated entity aims to reward the Executive Directors and senior management with a level and mix of
remuneration commensurate with their position and responsibilities within the consolidated entity and so as to:





reward Executives for consolidated entity and individual performance;
align the interests of executives with those of shareholders;
link reward with the strategic goals and performance of the consolidated entity; and
ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards.

The remuneration of the Executive Directors and senior management may from time to time be fixed by the Board.
As noted above, the Board’s policy is to align the Executive Directors and senior management objectives with
shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component and offering short and/or long‐
term incentives as appropriate.
The level of fixed remuneration is set so as to provide a base level of remuneration which is both appropriate to the
position and is competitive in the market. Short‐term incentives may be provided in the form of performance
bonuses. Fixed remuneration and short‐term incentives are reviewed annually by the Board, in carrying out the
functions of the Remuneration Committee, and the process consists of a review of Company‐wide and individual
performance, relevant comparative remuneration in the market and internal, and where appropriate, external advice
on policies and practices.
Senior management are given the opportunity to receive their fixed remuneration in a variety of forms including cash
and fringe benefits such as motor vehicles and expense payment plans. It is intended that the manner of payment
chosen will be optimal for the recipient without creating undue cost for the consolidated entity.
Long‐term incentives are provided in the form of options and/or the issue of shares following the completion of
satisfactory time periods of service. The consolidated entity uses employee continuity of service and the future share
price to align comparative shareholder return and reward for executives.
The remuneration of the Executive Directors and senior management for the year ending 30 June 2011 is detailed in
this Remuneration Report.
Relationship between remuneration and consolidated entity performance
During the financial year, the consolidated entity has generated losses as its principal activity was exploration for coal
within the Central Kalimantan coking coal basin in Indonesia and in Tanzania via a joint venture with Tanzoz
Resources.
The following table shows the share price at the end of the financial year for the consolidated entity for the last 4
years:

Share price at year‐end (30 June)
Basic loss per share

2011
$0.75
$(1.39)

2010
$0.18
$(2.67)

There were no dividends paid during the year ended 30 June 2011.

2009
$0.04
$(3.25)

2008
$0.06
$(4.72)
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued)
As the consolidated entity is still in the exploration and development stage, the link between remuneration,
consolidated entity performance and shareholder wealth is tenuous. Share prices are subject to the influence of coal
prices and market sentiment toward the sector, and as such increases or decreases may occur quite independent of
executive performance or remuneration.
Employment and services agreements
It is the Board’s policy that employment and/or services agreements are entered into with all Executive Directors,
Executives and employees.
Agreements do not provide for pre‐determining compensation values or method of payment. Rather the amount of
compensation is determined by the Board in accordance with the remuneration policy set out above.
The Non‐Executive Director has received a letter outlining the key terms of his appointment.
Key management personnel are entitled to their statutory entitlements of accrued annual leave and long service leave
together with any superannuation on termination. No other termination payments are payable.
Executive Chairman
Cokal Limited has a services agreement with Petla Trust and Peter Lynch, the Executive Chairman. The Agreement
commenced on 24 December 2010. Under the terms and conditions of the agreement, Petla Trust has agreed to
provide certain corporate management and other services to the consolidated entity. Additionally, Peter Lynch has
agreed to act as the Executive Chairman of Cokal Limited.
Petla Trust will receive a base fee for provision of the services of $210,000 per annum (exclusive of GST). The
consolidated entity is also obliged to reimburse Petla Trust for all reasonable and necessary expenses incurred by
Petla Trust in providing services pursuant to the agreement.
Both Cokal Limited and Petla Trust are entitled to terminate the agreement upon giving not less than three month’s
written notice. In the event that Petla Trust is in breach of the agreement, Cokal Limited may terminate the
agreement immediately on written notice. In addition, Cokal Limited is entitled to terminate the agreement upon the
happening of various events in respect of Petla Trust’s solvency or other conduct of Petla Trust or Peter Lynch.
Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer
Cokal Limited has an employment agreement with Jim Middleton, for the position of Managing Director and Chief
Executive Officer which commenced on 24 December 2010. Mr Middleton received an annual base salary of
$400,000, exclusive of compulsory superannuation contributions.
Mr Middleton is eligible for an annual performance bonus of up to 50% of his annual base salary, based on
performance milestones to be agreed annually by the Board.
The employment agreement may be terminated at any time by the Company for Cause, being serious misconduct or
the happening of various events in respect of Mr Middleton’s conduct.
The Company may terminate the employment agreement without Cause or for permanent disability by giving six
months’ notice to Mr Middleton. In these circumstances Mr Middleton will receive 12 months annual base salary.
Mr Middleton may terminate the employment agreement by providing the Company with three months’ notice.
If, within six months of a change of control event, Mr Middleton terminates the employment agreement, he will
receive 12 months annual base salary.
Under the terms of the employment agreement, and following shareholder approval, during the year ended 30 June
2011, Mr Middleton was granted 10,000,000 unlisted options, expiring 29 December 2014, exercisable as follows:
 5,000,000 at $0.50 (vesting 29 December 2011)
 5,000,000 at $0.75 (vesting 29 December 2012)
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued)
Executive Director
Cokal Limited has a services agreement with Hanna Consulting Services Pty Ltd and Pat Hanna, Executive Director.
The Agreement commenced on 24 December 2010. Under the terms and conditions of the agreement, Hanna
Consulting Services Pty Ltd has agreed to provide certain executive and geological management and other services to
the consolidated entity. Additionally, Pat Hanna has agreed to act as the Executive Director of Cokal Limited.
Hanna Consulting Services Pty Ltd will receive a base fee for provision of the services of $240,000 per annum
(exclusive of GST) for a minimum of ten days service per month. Additional fees of $2,000 per day will be paid for
additional services performed greater than ten days per month. The consolidated entity is also obliged to reimburse
Hanna Consulting Services Pty Ltd for all reasonable and necessary expenses incurred by Hanna Consulting Services
Pty Ltd in providing services pursuant to the agreement.
Both Cokal Limited and Hanna Consulting Services Pty Ltd are entitled to terminate the agreement upon giving not less
than three month’s written notice. In the event that Hanna Consulting Services Pty Ltd is in breach of the agreement,
Cokal Limited may terminate the agreement immediately on written notice. In addition, Cokal Limited is entitled to
terminate the agreement upon the happening of various events in respect of Hanna Consulting Services Pty Ltd’s
solvency or other conduct of Hanna Consulting Services Pty Ltd or Pat Hanna.
Senior Management
Exploration & Resource Manager
Cokal Limited has an employment agreement with Chris Turvey, for the position of Exploration & Resource Manager
which commenced on 24 December 2010. Mr Turvey receives an annual base salary of $250,000, exclusive of
compulsory superannuation contributions.
Mr Turvey is eligible for an annual performance bonus of up to 50% of his annual base salary, based on performance
milestones to be agreed annually by the Managing Director.
The employment agreement may be terminated at any time by the Company for Cause, being serious misconduct or
the happening of various events in respect of Mr Turvey’s conduct.
The Company may terminate the employment agreement without Cause or for permanent disability by giving six
months’ notice to Mr Turvey. In these circumstances Mr Turvey will receive six months annual base salary.
Mr Turvey may terminate the employment agreement by providing the Company with three months’ notice.
If, within six months of a change of control event, Mr Turvey terminates the employment agreement, he will receive
12 months annual base salary.
Under the terms of the employment agreement, during the year ended 30 June 2011, Mr Turvey was granted
2,000,000 unlisted options, expiring 29 December 2014, exercisable as follows:
 1,000,000 at $0.50 (vesting 29 December 2011)
 1,000,000 at $0.75 (vesting 29 December 2012)
Company Secretarial and CFO
Cokal Limited has a services agreement with Corporate Administration Services Pty Ltd (CAS) and Duncan Cornish, the
Secretary. The agreement commenced on 24 December 2010. Under the terms and conditions of the agreement, CAS
has agreed to provide certain corporate secretarial, administration and other services to Cokal Limited. Additionally,
Mr Cornish has agreed to act as the secretary and chief financial officer of Cokal Limited.
CAS receives a base fee for provision of the services of $120,000 (exclusive of GST). If at the request of the
consolidated entity, CAS or Mr Cornish provides additional services to the consolidated entity, CAS shall be paid
additional remuneration at an hourly rate. The consolidated entity is also obliged to reimburse CAS for all reasonable
and necessary expenses incurred by CAS in providing services pursuant to the Agreement.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued)
Both Cokal Limited and CAS are entitled to terminate the agreement upon giving not less than three month’s written
notice. In the event that a party is in breach of the agreement either party may terminate the Agreement immediately
on written notice. In addition, Cokal Limited is entitled to terminate the agreement upon the happening of various
events in respect of CAS’ solvency or other conduct of CAS or Mr Cornish. CAS is also entitled to terminate the
agreement upon the happening of various events in respect of Cokal Limited’s solvency.
(a)

Details of Management Personnel
(i)

(ii)

Directors
Peter Lynch
Jim Middleton
Pat Hanna
Domenic Martino

Executive Chairman (appointed 24 December 2010)
Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer (appointed 24 December 2010)
Executive Director (appointed 24 December 2010)
Non‐Executive Director (appointed 24 December 2010)

Harjinder Kehal
Nick Archibald
Jeremy Shervington
Bradley Abbott

Non‐Executive Chairman (resigned 24 December 2010)
Non‐Executive Director (resigned 25 August 2010)
Non‐Executive Director (resigned 24 December 2010)
Non‐Executive Director and Company Secretary (resigned 24 December 2010)

Senior Management
Chris Turvey
Duncan Cornish

Exploration and Resource Manager (appointed 24 December 2010)
Company Secretary & Chief Financial Officer (appointed 24 December 2010)

(b) Remuneration details
The following table of benefits and payments details, in respect to the financial years ended 30 June 2011 and 2010,
the component of remuneration for each key management person of the consolidated entity and, to the extent
different, the five consolidated entity executives and five company executives who received the highest
remuneration:
Post‐
Employment

Short‐Term Benefits

Termination
Benefits

Share‐based
payments

Total

2011
Salary &
Fees

Cash
Bonus

$

$

Other short‐ Superannuation
term benefits
$

$

%
Remuneration
as options

Equity‐settled Cash‐settled
(options)
$

$

$

$

Directors
Peter Lynch #

100,000

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

100,000

0%

Jim Middleton #

282,051

‐

‐

11,400

‐

549,487

‐

842,938

65.2%

Pat Hanna #

270,371

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

270,371

0%

Domenic Martino #

25,833

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

25,833

0%

Harjinder Kehal ^

20,000

‐

‐

1,800

‐

‐

‐

21,800

0%

Nick Archibald *

6,129

‐

‐

552

‐

‐

‐

6,681

0%

Jeremy Shervington ^

20,000

‐

‐

1,800

‐

‐

‐

21,800

0%

Bradley Abbott ^

20,000

‐

‐

1,800

‐

‐

‐

21,800

0%

744,384

‐

‐

17,352

‐

549,487

‐

1,311,223

130,769

‐

‐

‐

‐

109,898

‐

240,667

45.7%

62,581

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

62,581

0%

193,350

‐

‐

‐

‐

109,898

‐

303,248

Total
Senior Management
Chris Turvey#
Duncan Cornish#
Total

* resigned 25 August 2010
^ resigned 24 December 2010
# appointed 24 December 2010
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued)
(b) Remuneration details (continued)
Post‐
Employment

Short‐Term Benefits

2010

Termination
Benefits

Share‐based
payments

Total

%
Remuneration
as options

Salary &
Fees

Cash
Bonus

$

$

Other short‐ Superannuation
term benefits
$

$

Equity‐settled Cash‐settled
(options)
$

$

$

$

Directors
Harjinder Kehal

86,307

‐

‐

3,600

‐

‐

‐

89,907

‐

Nick Archibald

23,331

‐

‐

2,100

‐

‐

‐

25,431

‐

Jeremy Shervington

53,328

‐

‐

4,800

‐

‐

‐

58,128

‐

Bradley Abbott *

53,328

‐

‐

4,800

‐

‐

‐

58,128

‐

Godfrey Rule ^
Total

33,334

‐

‐

3,000

‐

‐

‐

36,334

‐

249,628

‐

‐

18,300

‐

‐

‐

267,928

‐

* appointed 1 December 2009
^ resigned 17 November 2009

In 2010 and 2011 the consolidated entity had fewer than 5 Executives.
Cash bonuses, performance‐related bonuses and share‐based payments
Key management personnel and other executives were not paid cash bonuses or performance‐related bonuses during
the years ended 30 June 2011 and 2010.
Details of share‐based payments to key management personnel and other executives during the year ended 30 June
2011 are detailed in the table below.
Remuneration
type

Consolidated
entity
management personnel

Grant date

Number

Exercise
Price

Grant
value
(per
option)
$#

Percentage
vested / paid
during year
%

Percentage
forfeited
during year
%

Percentage
remaining as
unvested
%

Expiry date

key

Jim Middleton

Options

29/12/2010

5,000,000

$0.50

$0.17

‐

‐

100%

29/12/2014

Jim Middleton

Options

29/12/2010

5,000,000

$0.75

$0.09

‐

‐

100%

29/12/2014

Chris Turvey

Options

29/12/2010

1,000,000

$0.50

$0.17

‐

‐

100%

29/12/2014

Chris Turvey

Options

29/12/2010

1,000,000

$0.75

$0.09

‐

‐

100%

29/12/2014

# Calculation of value of options granted using the Black‐Scholes option pricing model, which takes into account factors such as the option exercise
price, the market price at the date of issue and volatility of the underlying share price and the time to maturity of the option.

These options were not issued based on performance criteria as the Board does not consider this appropriate for a
junior exploration company. The options were issued to the director and senior management of Cokal Limited to align
comparative shareholder return and reward for director and senior management.
All options were issued by Cokal Limited and entitle the holder to one ordinary share in Cokal Limited for each option
exercised.
All options granted as part of remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2011 were granted for nil consideration. Once
vested, options can be exercised at any time up to the expiry date.
During the year ended 30 June 2011, 2,000,000 unlisted $0.20 options were exercised into ordinary shares. These
options had been granted as remuneration in a prior financial year. During the year ended 30 June 2010 there no
options exercised that had been granted as remuneration.
There were no share‐based payments made to key management personnel and other executives during the year
ended 30 June 2010.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (continued)
(c)

Hedging of Director’s share based payments

The consolidated entity does not currently have a policy prohibiting directors and executives from entering into
arrangements to protect the value of unvested options. No directors or executives have entered into contracts to
hedge their exposure to options awarded as part of their remuneration package.
End of Remuneration Report
DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The number of meetings of Directors (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the year and the
number of meetings attended by each Director was as follows:
Board

Audit Committee

Number of
meetings held
while in office

Meetings
attended

Number of
meetings held
while in office

Meetings
attended

Peter Lynch #

3

3

‐ **

‐ **

Jim Middleton #

3

3

n/a

n/a

Pat Hanna #

3

3

‐ **

‐ **

Domenic Martino #

3

3

‐ **

‐ **

Harjinder Kehal ^

2

2

n/a

n/a

Bradley Abbott ^

2

2

n/a

n/a

Jeremy Shervington ^

2

2

n/a

n/a

Nick Archibald *

1

1

n/a

n/a

* resigned 25 August 2010
^ resigned 24 December 2010
# appointed 24 December 2010
** Financial statements for half‐year ended 31 December 2011 were considered by the full board.

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND AUDITOR
Each of the current Directors and the current Secretary of Cokal Limited have entered into a Deed with Cokal Limited
whereby Cokal Limited has provided certain contractual rights of access to books and records of Cokal Limited to
those Directors and Secretary.
Cokal Limited has insured all of the Directors of the consolidated entity. The contract of insurance prohibits the
disclosure of the nature of the liabilities covered and amount of the premium paid. The Corporations Act does not
require disclosure of the information in these circumstances.
Cokal Limited has not indemnified or insured its auditor.
OPTIONS
At the date of this report, there were 54,551,357 unissued ordinary shares under options as follows:
 12,776,357 listed options exercisable at $0.20, on or before 1 February 2012
 21,000,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.30, on or before 31 December 2012
 2,000,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.20, on or before 31 December 2012
 6,000,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.50, on or before 29 December 2014
 6,000,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.75, on or before 29 December 2014
 1,225,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.75, on or before 12 April 2015
 550,000 unlisted options exercisable at $1.00 on or before 29 June 2015
 3,000,000 unlisted options exercisable at $1.10 on or before 5 September 2015
 2,000,000 unlisted options exercisable at $1.50 on or before 5 September 2015
No option holder has any right under the options to participate in any other share issue of Cokal Limited or any other
entity.
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Shareholder Information
Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere in this report is as
follows. The information is current as at 7 September 2011.
(a)

Distribution of equity securities

The number of holders, by size of holding, in each class of security are:
Listed options
($0.20 @ 1/2/12)
Number of
Number of
holders
options

Ordinary shares
Number of
holders

Number of
shares

1 – 1,000

327

310,063

23

1,001 – 5,000

172

542,204

5,001 – 10,000

306

2,774,342

10,001 – 100,000

552

21,055,859

100,001 and over

181

315,418,267

1,538

340,100,735

Total

Unlisted options
($0.30 @ 31/12/12)
Number of
holders

Number of
options

Number
of holders

Number of
options

8,940

‐

‐

‐

‐

14

50,200

‐

‐

‐

‐

12

110,500

‐

‐

‐

‐

66

2,918,612

20

1,000,000

‐

‐

35

9,643,105

13

20,000,000

2

2,000,000

150

12,731,357

33

21,000,000

2

2,000,000

Unlisted options
($0.75 @ 29/12/14)

Unlisted options
($0.50 @ 29/12/14)

Unlisted options
($0.20 @ 31/12/12)

Unlisted options
($0.75 @ 12/4/15)

Number of
holders

Number of
options

Number of
holders

Number of
options

Number of
holders

Number of
options

1 – 1,000

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

1,001 – 5,000

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

5,001 – 10,000

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

10,001 – 100,000

‐

‐

‐

‐

4

325,000

100,001 and over

2

6,000,000

2

6,000,000

2

900,000

Total

2

6,000,000

2

6,000,000

6

1,225,000

Unlisted options
($1.00 @ 29/6/15)

Unlisted options
($1.10 @ 5/9/15)

Unlisted options
($1.50 @ 5/9/15)

Number of
holders

Number of
options

Number of
holders

Number of
options

Number of
holders

Number of
options

1 – 1,000

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

1,001 – 5,000

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

5,001 – 10,000

‐

‐

10,001 – 100,000

1

50,000

‐

‐

‐

‐

3,000,000

1

2,000,000

3,000,000

1

2,000,000

100,001 and over

1

500,000

1

Total

2

550,000

1

The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel (854 ordinary shares) is 25 (8,163 ordinary shares).
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(b) Twenty largest holders
The names of the twenty largest holders, in each class of quoted security are:
Ordinary shares:
Number of
shares

% of total
shares

1

PETER ANTHONY LYNCH + LAURA ANNE LYNCH <PETLA A/C>

2

DOMENAL ENTERPRISES PTY LTD <DVM SUPER FUND A/C>

30,000,000

8.82

3

HARUN ABIDIN

25,000,000

7.35

4

PATRICK JOSEPH HANNA

25,000,000

7.35

5

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED

24,717,736

7.27

6

CALDWELL MANAGEMENT AG

22,000,000

6.47

7

PETER ANTHONY LYNCH + LAURA ANNE LYNCH <SEBAL SUPER FUND>

20,000,000

5.88

8

MINIMUM RISK PTY LTD <CDM FAMILY A/C>

15,000,000

4.41

9

JP MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED

14,473,671

4.26

10

UBS WEALTH MANAGEMENT AUSTRALIA NOMINEES PTY LTD

10,507,824

3.09

11

TJ SMOCK & CO PTY LTD <MIDDLETON FAMILY A/C>

10,000,000

2.94

12

FANUCCI PTY LTD <FANUCCI A/C>

5,000,000

1.47

13

ANSON CENTURY LIMITED

5,000,000

1.47

14

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED

4,689,795

1.38

15

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED

3,252,976

0.96

16

PANGA PTY LTD

3,210,294

0.94

17

ALBIANO HOLDINGS PTY LTD <PANTHEON FAMILY A/C>

3,000,000

0.88

18

MLEQ NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <UNPAID1 A/C>

2,732,046

0.8

19

REAL GOLD PTY LTD

2,000,000

0.59

20

REACROFT PTY LTD
Top 20

1,726,750
262,311,092

0.51
77.13

340,100,735

100.00%

Total
* merged

35,000,000

10.29

Listed Options ($0.20 @ 1/2/12):
Number of
options

% of total
options

1

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED

2,082,187

16.35

2

PANGA PTY LTD*

861,747

6.77

3

MR MATTHEW SACHR

500,000

3.93

4

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED

400,000

3.14

5

MADE SUMARYA

325,000

2.55

6

DOBCO SUPERANNUATION PTY LTD <DOBCO PENSION FUND A/C>

285,654

2.24

7

MR WADE JOHN CAMPBELL

265,000

2.08

8

FLUE HOLDINGS PTY LTD

258,709

2.03

9

MR DANIEL PAUL WISE

231,667

1.82

10

MR ANDREW FARR + MRS CAROLINE FARR <FARR SUPERANNUATION A/C>

214,000

1.68

11

MR GREGORY PETER PAZMANDY
MR MARK JOHN BAHEN + MRS MARGARET PATRICIA BAHEN

213,000

1.67

12

210,000

1.65

13

LEUCHTER INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <THE LEUCHTER FAMILY A/C>

203,600

1.6

14

SLADE TECHNOLOGIES PTY LTD <EMBREY FAMILY SUPERFUND A/C>

200,000

1.57

15

FERNLAND HOLDINGS PTY LTD

200,000

1.57

16

JOVAIL PTY LTD <THE DRM SUPER FUND A/C>

200,000

1.57

17

MR TRENT NATHAN FOXE

200,000

1.57

18

MR NATHAN DOUGLAS FARRELLY

200,000

1.57

19

MR DAVID KUOH HOU CHONG
DR DAVID GORDON CAREY + MRS MARIA CAREY‐DOMINGUEZ
<DAVID CAREY FAMILY A/C>

200,000

1.57

200,000

1.57

20

Top 20
Total
* merged

7,450,564

58.52

12,731,357

100.00%
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Substantial shareholders
Substantial shareholders as shown in substantial shareholder notices received by Cokal Limited at 7 September 2011
are:
Name of Shareholder:

Ordinary Shares:

Ekstein & Ekstein Investments Pty Ltd
Karla Bell & Associates Pty Ltd <KBA Super P/E A/c>

2,630,281

Patrick Joseph Hanna

25,000,000

Peter Anthony Lynch & Laura Anne Lynch

55,000,000

Domenic Vincent Martino & Sandra Gae Martino

36,513,334

Passport Material Master Fund, LP
Passport Material Master Fund II, LP
Blackwell Partners LLC
Norgees Bank (Central Bank of Norway)
Passport Advisors, LP
Passport Holdings, LLC
Passport Capital, LLC
John H. Burbank III

17,618,159

(c)

Voting rights

All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction.
(d) Restricted securities
Restricted securities on issue at 7 September 2011 are:
Escrow
Release Date

Escrow Period

Shares

Options
$0.30 @ 31/12/2012

Total

12 months

210,000,000

21,000,000

231,000,000

24 December 2011

(e) Business objectives
The consolidated entity has used its cash and assets that are readily convertible to cash in a way consistent with its
business objectives.
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Interests in Tenements and Projects
Cokal Limited held the following interests in tenements as at 13 September 2011:
Australia
Tenement

Location

% Interest

Grant Date

Expiry Date

EPC 1649

Queensland

100%

5 November 2009

4 November 2014

EPC 1652

Queensland

100%

5 November 2009

4 November 2014

EPC 1660

Queensland

100%

19 February 2010

18 February 2015

EPC 1664

Queensland

100%

5 November 2009

4 November 2014

EPC 1665

Queensland

100%

19 February 2010

18 February 2015

EPCA 1648

Queensland

100%

Application

n/a

EPCA 1650

Queensland

100%

Application

n/a

EPCA 1651

Queensland

100%

Application

n/a

EPCA 1653

Queensland

100%

Application

n/a

EPCA 1662

Queensland

100%

Application

n/a

EPCA 1665

Queensland

100%

Application

n/a

EPCA 1666

Queensland

100%

Application

n/a

Cokal limited had the following interests in projects as at 13 September 2011:
Indonesia
Project

Location

% Interest

PT Anugerah Alam Katingan (AAK)

Kalimantan

75%

PT Anugerah Alam Manuhing (AAM)

Kalimantan

75%

PT Bumi Barito Minera (BBM)

Kalimantan

50%

PT Borne0 Bara Prima (BBP)

Kalimantan

50%

Project

Location

% Interest

Joint Venture with Tanzoz Resources (JV1 or Manda)
over tenement number PL 6281

Tanzania

50%

Joint Venture with Tanzoz Resources (JV2) over
tenement number PL 5395 plus additional
tenements indentified by the parties

Tanzania

60%

Tanzania

Corporate Governance Statements
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Corporate Governance Statement
The board of directors of Cokal Limited is responsible for the corporate governance of the consolidated entity. The
Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of Cokal Limited on behalf of the shareholders by whom they are
elected and to whom they are accountable.
Cokal Limited’s Corporate Governance Statement is structured with reference to the Australian Securities Exchange
(“ASX”) Corporate Governance Council’s (the “Council”) “Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations,
2nd Edition”, which are as follows:
Principle 1
Principle 2
Principle 3
Principle 4
Principle 5
Principle 6
Principle 7
Principle 8

Lay solid foundations for management and oversight
Structure the board to add value
Promote ethical and responsible decision making
Safeguard integrity in financial reporting
Make timely and balanced disclosure
Respect the rights of shareholders
Recognise and manage risk
Remunerate fairly and responsibly

A copy of the eight Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations can be found on the ASX’s website.
The Board is of the view that with the exception of the departures from the ASX Guidelines as set out below, it
otherwise complies with all of the ASX Guidelines.
ASX Principles
and recommendations

Summary of the consolidated entity’s
Position

Principle 2 – Structure the board to add value
While the consolidated entity does not presently comply with this
Recommendation 2.1 – A majority of the
Board should be independent directors
recommendation, the consolidated entity may consider appointing
further independent directors in the future. The consolidated entity
believes that given the size and scale of its operations, non‐compliance
by the consolidated entity with this recommendation will not be
detrimental to the consolidated entity.
Mr Peter Lynch is the Executive Chairman. The consolidated entity does
Recommendation 2.2 – The chair should
be an independent director
not consider Mr Lynch to be an independent director as defined in the
ASX Guidelines on the basis that he is employed by the Company in an
executive capacity and is a substantial (greater than 5%) shareholder in
the Company.
The consolidated entity believes that given the size and scale of its
operations, non‐compliance by the consolidated entity with this
recommendation will not be detrimental to the consolidated entity.
Recommendation 2.4 – The board should The Board’s view is that the consolidated entity is not currently of the
establish a nomination committee
size to justify the formation of a separate nomination committee. The
Board currently performs the functions of a nomination committee and
where necessary will seek advice of external advisors in relation to this
role. The Board shall, upon the consolidated entity reaching the
requisite corporate and commercial maturity, form a nomination
committee to assist the Board in relation to the appointment of
Directors and senior management.
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Summary of the consolidated entity’s
Position

Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity in financial reporting
Recommendation 4.2 – The audit
Mr Domenic Martino is a non‐executive director and the current
committee should be structured so that
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee. The
it:
consolidated entity does not consider Mr Martino to be an independent
director as defined in the ASX Guidelines on the basis that he, together
- Consists only of non‐executive
with his associated entities, are in aggregate a substantial (greater than
directors
5%) shareholder in the consolidated entity.
- Consists of a majority of
independent directors
Mr Peter Lynch is the Executive Chairman. The consolidated entity does
- Is chaired by an independent chair,
not consider Mr Lynch to be an independent director as defined in the
who is not chair of the board
ASX Guidelines on the basis that he is employed by the Company in an
- Has at least 3 members
executive capacity and is a substantial (greater than 5%) shareholder in
the Company.
Mr Pat Hanna is the Executive Director. The consolidated entity does
not consider Mr Hanna to be an independent director as defined in the
ASX Guidelines on the basis that he is employed by the Company in an
executive capacity and is a substantial (greater than 5%) shareholder in
the Company.
On the basis of above information, the consolidated entity is of the view
that the current Committee does not consist of a majority of
independent directors. While the consolidated entity does not
presently comply with this Recommendation 4.2, the consolidated
entity may consider appointing further independent Directors in the
future. The consolidated entity believes that given the size and scale of
its operations, non‐compliance by the consolidated entity with this
Recommendation 4.2 will not be detrimental to the consolidated entity.

Principle 7 ‐ Recognise and manage risk
Recommendation 7.2 – The Board should A formal report to the Board as to the effectiveness of the management
require management to design and
of the Company’s material business risks is has not been provided since
implement the risk management and
the new Board and management’s appointment (on 24 December
internal control system to manage the
2010). The Company is developing a basic formal framework for risk
management and internal compliance and control systems which cover
company’s material business risks and
organisational, financial and operational aspects of the Company’s
report to it on whether those risks are
affairs as the Company’ activities expand.
being managed effectively. The board
should disclose that management has
reported to it as to the effectiveness of
the company’s management of its
material business risks.
Principle 8 ‐ Remunerate fairly and responsibly
Recommendation 8.1 – The board should The Board has not established a remuneration committee. The Board
establish a remuneration committee
considers that given its size, no efficiencies or other benefits would be
gained by the establishing of such committee. The role of the
remuneration committee is carried out by the full Board. The Board
shall, upon the consolidated entity reaching the requisite corporate and
commercial maturity, form a nomination committee to assist the Board
in relation to the appointment of Directors and senior management.
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Board
The Board has adopted a formal board charter that outlines the roles and responsibilities of directors and senior
executives. The Board Charter has been made publicly available on Cokal Limited's website.
The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of Director held by each Director on office at the date of
the Annual Report is included in the Director’s Report. Corporate Governance Council Recommendation 2.1 requires a
majority of the Board should be independent Directors. The Corporate Governance Council defines and independent
director as a non‐executive director who is not a member of management and who is free of any business or other
relationship that could materially interfere with – or could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with – the
independent exercise of their judgement.
In the context of Director independence, “materiality” is considered from both the Company and the individual
Director perspective. The determination of materiality requires consideration of both quantitative and qualitative
elements. An item is presumed to be quantitatively immaterial if it is equal or less than 10% of the appropriate base
amount. It is presumed to be material (unless there is qualitative evidence to the contrary) if it is equal to or greater
than 10% of the appropriate base amount. Qualitative factors considered included whether a relationship is
strategically important, the competitive landscape, the nature of the relationship and the contractual or other
arrangements governing it and other factors which point to the actual ability of the Director in question to shape the
direction of the Company’s loyalty.
Factors that may impact on a director’s independence are considered each time the Board meets.
At the date of this report:
In accordance with the Council’s definition of independence above, and the materiality thresholds set none of the
Directors are considered to be independent.
In accordance with the Council’s definition of independence above, and the materiality thresholds set, the following
Directors are not considered to be independent:
Name
Peter Lynch

Position
Executive Chairman

Jim Middleton
Pat Hanna

Managing Director & Chief
Executive Officer
Executive Director

Domenic Martino

Non‐Executive Director

Reason for non‐compliance
Peter Lynch is employed by the Company in an executive
capacity and is a substantial (greater than 5%) shareholder in the
Company.
Jim Middleton is employed by the Company in an executive
capacity.
Pat Hanna is employed by the Company in an executive capacity
and is a substantial (greater than 5%) shareholder in the
Company.
Domenic Martino is a substantial (greater than 5%) shareholder
in the Company.

Cokal Limited considers industry experience and specific expertise, as well as general corporate experience, to be
important attributes of its Board members. The Directors noted above have been appointed to the Board of Cokal
Limited due to their considerable industry and corporate experience.
There are procedures in place, agreed by the board, to enable Directors, in furtherance of their duties, to seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.
The term in office held by each Director in office at the date of this report is as follows:
Name
Peter Lynch
Jim Middleton
Pat Hanna
Domenic Martino

Term in office
9 months
9 months
9 months
9 months
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Trading Policy
The Board has adopted a policy and procedure on dealing in the Company’s securities by Directors, officers and
employees which prohibits dealing in the Company’s securities when those persons possess inside information until it
has been released to the market and adequate time has passed for this to be reflected in the security’s prices, and
during certain pre‐determined windows.
The Company’s policy regarding dealings by directors in the Company’s shares is that directors should never engage in
short term trading and should not enter into transactions when they are in possession of price sensitive information
not yet released by the Company to the market; or for a period of fourteen (14) days prior to the scheduled (per ASX
Listing Rules) release by the Company of (ASX) Quarterly Operations and Cash Flow Reports or such shorter period as
may be approved of by the Chairman after receipt of notice of intention to buy or sell by a director to other members
of the Board.
Directors will generally be permitted to engage in trading (subject to due notification being given to the Chairperson
and Secretary) for a period commencing one (1) business day after the release of (ASX) Quarterly Operations and Cash
Flow Reports to the market and for a period commencing one (1) business day following the release of price sensitive
information to the market which allows a reasonable period of time for the information to be disseminated among
members of the public.
Remuneration and Nomination Committees
Due to the size and scale of operations, Cokal Limited does not have separately established Remuneration or
Nomination Committees. The full Board carries out the functions of Remuneration and Nomination Committees.
Audit Committee
During the financial year, the Board has established an Audit Committee, which operates under a charter approved by
the Board. It is the Board’s responsibility to ensure that an effective internal control framework exists within the
Company. This includes internal controls to deal with both the effectiveness and efficiency of significant business
processes, the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, and the reliability of financial
information as well as non‐financial considerations such as the benchmarking of operational key performance
indicators. The Board has delegated the responsibility for the establishment and maintenance of a framework of
internal control and ethical standards for the management of the Company to the Audit Committee.
The Committee also provides the Board with additional assurance regarding the reliability of financial information for
inclusion in the financial reports.
The members of the Audit Committee at the date of this report are:
 Domenic Martino (Chairman)
 Peter Lynch
 Pat Hanna
For additional details of directors’ attendance at Audit Committee meetings and to review the qualifications of the
members of the Audit Committee, please refer to the Directors’ Report.
The Audit Committee Charter has been made publicly available on the Company’s website.
Risk Management
Material business risks are considered informally as the Company’s business evolves, since it commenced exploration
in January 2011, plus formally at each Board meeting.
The Company is developing a basic formal framework for risk management and internal compliance and control
systems which cover organisational, financial and operational aspects of the Company’s affairs as the Company’s
activities expand. The Board believes the current approach to risk management is appropriate given the size and scale
of its operations. Further detail of the Company Risk management Policies can be found within the Corporate
Governance Policy available on the Company website (www.cokal.com.au).
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Recommendation 7.2 requires that the Board disclose that management has reported to it as to the effectiveness of
the Company’s management of its material business risks. Business risks are considered regularly by the Board and
management. A formal report to the Board as to the effectiveness of the management of the Company’s material
business risks has not been provided since the new Board and managements’ appointment (on 24 December 2010).
As noted, these formal procedures are being developed.
As required by Recommendation 7.3, the Board has received written assurances from the Managing Director and
Chief Financial Officer that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the declaration provided by them in accordance
with section 295A of the Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and
that they system is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.
Performance Evaluation
The full Board, in carrying out the functions of the Remuneration and Nomination Committees, considers
remuneration and nomination issues annually and otherwise as required in conjunction with the regular meetings of
the Board.
The performance of the individual members of the Board is considered at the regular meetings of the Board. No
formal performance evaluation of the directors was undertaken during the year ended 30 June 2011. The Board
does not currently have a procedure for formally evaluating the performance of directors.
Remuneration
It is the Company’s objective to provide maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality Board and
Executive team by remunerating directors and key executives fairly and appropriately with reference to relevant and
employment market conditions. To assist in achieving this objective, the Remuneration Committee and the Board
links the nature and amount of Executive Director’s and Officer’s emoluments to the consolidated entity’s financial
and operations performance. The expected outcomes of the remuneration structure are:
 retention and motivation of key Executives
 attraction of quality management to the consolidated entity
 performance incentives which allow Executives to share the rewards of the success of Cokal Limited
For details on the amount of remuneration and all monetary and non‐monetary components for each of the five
highest paid (Non‐Director) Executives during the period, and for all Directors, please refer to the Remuneration
Report within the Directors’ Report. In relation to the payment of bonuses, options and other incentive payments,
discretion is exercised by the Board, having regard to the overall performance of Cokal Limited and the performance
of the individual during the period.
There is no scheme to provide retirement benefits, other than statutory superannuation, to Non‐Executive Directors.
The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the Directors themselves,
subject to Cokal Limited’s constitution and prior shareholder approvals, and the Executive team.
The consolidated entity does not currently have a policy of implementing a ban on hedging economic risk of options.
Continuous Disclosure Policy
Detailed compliance procedures for ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements have been adopted by the consolidated
entity. Cokal Limited’s Continuous Disclosure Policy can be found within Cokal Limited’s Corporate Governance
Charter on the Cokal Limited website (www.cokal.com.au) in the Corporate Governance section.
Communications
The consolidated entity has designed a disclosure system to ensure it complies with the ASX’s continuous disclosure
rules and that information is made available to all investors equally, promoting effective communications with
shareholders and encouraging shareholder participation at general shareholder meetings.
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In addition to corporate and project information generally available on the Company’s website, in the Investor
Relations section of the Company’s website the following information is made available:
•
•
•
•
•

ASX Releases
Corporate Presentations
Quarterly Reports
Half‐yearly and Annual Reports
Capital Structure

Other Information
Further information relating to the Company’s corporate governance practices and policies has been made publicly
available on the Company’s web site at: www.cokal.com.au
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Note

Revenue and other income

2

Consolidated

Company

2011

2010

$

$

584,488

63,470

(101,321)

(206,674)

(1,520,862)

(280,293)

(4,344)

(7,379)

(3)

‐

Legal expenses

(563,382)

(90,610)

Administration and consulting expenses

(430,900)

(184,061)

Other expenses

(607,589)

(67,829)

(2,643,913)

(773,376)

‐

‐

(2,643,913)

(773,376)

‐

‐

(2,643,913)

(773,376)

Pre‐tenure exploration expenses
Employee benefits expenses
Depreciation expenses
Finance costs

Loss before income tax expense
Income tax expense

4

Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive loss for the year

Loss per share for the loss attributable to owners of Cokal Ltd:

Cents

Cents

Loss per share (cents per share)

8

(1.39)

(2.67)

Diluted loss per share (cents per share)

8

(1.39)

(2.67)

The above Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2011
Note

Consolidated

Company

2011

2010

$

$

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

9

17,216,696

2,651,054

Accounts receivables

10

162,839

21,048

Other current assets

15

35,500

‐

17,415,035

2,672,102

Total Current Assets
Non‐Current Assets
Plant and equipment

13

440,547

14,832

Exploration and evaluation assets

14

26,753,667

‐

Other non‐current assets

15

207,037

‐

Total Non‐Current Assets

27,401,251

14,832

TOTAL ASSETS

44,816,286

2,686,934

8,268,725

47,295

8,268,725

47,295

322,875

‐

322,875

‐

8,591,600

47,295

36,224,686

2,639,639

Current Liabilities
Accounts payables

16

Total Current Liabilities
Non‐Current Liabilities
Deferred liability

16

Total Non‐Current Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
Equity
Issued capital

17

41,731,103

6,210,843

Reserves

18

727,719

19,019

Accumulated losses

19

(6,234,136)

(3,590,223)

36,224,686

2,639,639

TOTAL EQUITY

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2011

At 1 July 2009

Issued Capital

Accumulated
Losses

Reserves

Total

$

$

$

$

3,845,025

(2,816,847)

24,098

1,052,276

‐

(773,376)

‐

(773,376)

‐

(773,376)

‐

(773,376)

Issue of share capital

2,614,044

‐

2,614,044

Costs associated with issue of share capital

(302,806)

‐

‐
‐

54,580

‐

(5,079)

49,501

2,365,818

‐

(5,079)

2,360,739

6,210,843

(3,590,223)

19,019

2,639,639

‐

(2,643,913)

‐

(2,643,913)

‐

(2,643,913)

‐

(2,643,913)

Issue of share capital

36,802,645

‐

‐

36,802,645

Costs associated with issue of share capital

(1,282,385)

‐

‐

(1,282,385)

‐

‐

708,700

708,700

35,520,260

‐

708,700

36,228,960

41,731,103

(6,234,136)

727,719

36,224,686

Total comprehensive loss for the financial
year
Loss for the year

Transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners

Conversion of options to shares

At 30 June 2010

(302,806)

Total comprehensive loss for the financial
year
Loss for the year

Transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners

Share based payments

At 30 June 2011

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2011
Note

Consolidated

Company

2011

2010

$

$

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Interest paid
Net cash outflow from operating activities

25

(2,477,982)

(793,088)

462,859

55,860

(3)

‐

(2,015,126)

(737,228)

8,000

‐

(72,401)

‐

70,000

‐

(14,729,559)

‐

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment
Payments for plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of tenements
Payments for exploration and evaluation assets
Security deposit payments

(201,677)

‐

Cash acquired on acquisition of subsidiary

215,504

‐

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing
activities

(14,710,133)

‐

Proceeds from issue of shares and options

32,573,286

2,663,545

Transaction costs on share issue

(1,282,385)

(302,806)

Net cash inflow from financing activities

31,290,901

2,360,739

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

14,565,642

1,623,511

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
year

2,651,054

1,027,543

17,216,696

2,651,054

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

9

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2011
NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
General Information
The consolidated financial statements of Cokal Limited for the year ended 30 June 2011 were authorised for issue in accordance
with a resolution of the directors on [date] and covers the consolidated entity (the “Group) consisting of Cokal Limited and its
subsidiaries.
The financial statements are presented in the Australian currency.
Cokal Limited (the parent) is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia, whose shares are publicly
traded on the Australian Securities Exchange.
The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are described in the director’s report.
Basis of preparation
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001.
The financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.
Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which contemplates the continuity of normal business
activities and the realisation of assets and discharge of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. The ability of the Group to
continue to adopt the going concern assumption will depend upon a number of matters including the successful raising in the
future of necessary funding, through debt, equity or farm‐out, or the successful exploration and subsequent exploitation of the
Group’s tenements. Should these avenues be delayed or fail to materialize, the Group has the ability to scale back its activities to
allow the Group to continue as a going concern and meet its debts as and when they fall due.
Comparatives
The comparatives presented in the annual report are for the parent company only as the acquisition of JDC was only effected
during the current year.

Accounting Policies
The accounting policies and methods of computation are the same as those in the prior year except as disclosed below.
(i) Adoption of new and amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations
From 1 July 2010 the Group has adopted the following new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations. Adoption of
these standards and Interpretations did not have any material effect on the financial position of performance of the Group.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Accounting Policies (continued)
(i) Adoption of new and amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued)
Reference

AASB 2009-5

Title

Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual
Improvements Project – The subject of amendments to the standards are set out
below:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Application date of
standard

Application
date for Group

1 January 2010

1 July 2010

AASB 5 – Disclosures in relation to non-current assets (or disposal groups)
classified as held for sale or discontinued operations
AASB 8 – Disclosure of information about segment assets
AASB 101 – Current/non-current classification of convertible instruments
AASB 107 – Classification of expenditures that does not give rise to an asset
AASB 117 – Classification of leases of land
AASB 118 – Determining whether an entity is acting as a principle or an agent
AASB 136 – Clarifying the unit of account for goodwill impairment test is not
larger than an operating segment before aggregation
AASB 139 – Treating loan prepayment penalties as closely related embedded
derivatives, and revising the scope exemption for forward contracts to enter into
a business combination contract

AASB 2009-8

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Group Cash-settled Share-based
Payment Transactions
[AASB 2]

1 January 2010

1 July 2010

AASB 2009-10

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Rights Issues

1 February 2010

1 July 2010

1 July 2010

1 July 2010

1 July 2010

1 July 2010

[AASB 132]
AASB 2010-3

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual
Improvements Project
[AASB 3, AASB 7, AASB 121, AASB 128, AASB 131, AASB 132 & AASB 139]
Limits the scope of the measurement choices of non-controlling interest to
instruments that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation. Other
components of NCI are measured at fair value.
Requires an entity (in a business combination) to account for the replacement of the
acquiree’s share-based payment transactions (whether obliged or voluntarily), in a
consistent manner i.e., allocate between consideration and post combination
expenses.
Clarifies that contingent consideration from a business combination that occurred
before the effective date of AASB 3 Revised is not restated.
Clarifies that the revised accounting for loss of significant influence or joint control
(from the issue of IFRS 3 Revised) is only applicable prospectively.

Interpretation 19

Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments
This interpretation clarifies that equity instruments issued to a creditor to extinguish a
financial liability are “consideration paid” in accordance with paragraph 41 of IAS 39.
As a result, the financial liability is derecognised and the equity instruments issued
are treated as consideration paid to extinguish that financial liability.
The interpretation states that equity instruments issued as payment of a debt should
be measured at the fair value of the equity instruments issued, if this can be
determined reliably. If the fair value of the equity instruments issued is not reliably
determinable, the equity instruments should be measured by reference to the fair
value of the financial liability extinguished as of the date of extinguishment.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Accounting Policies (continued)
(i) Adoption of new and amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued)
The Group has not elected to early adopt the following new standards or amendments that are issued or approved by IASB but not
yet effective.

Reference

Title

Summary

AASB 9

Financial Instruments

AASB 9 includes requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets resulting from
the first part of Phase 1 of the IASB’s project to
replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement (AASB 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement).

Application
date of
standard

AASB 200911

Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards arising from
AASB 9
[AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101,
102, 108, 112, 118,
121, 127, 128, 131,
132, 136, 139, 1023 &
1038 and Interpretations
10 & 12]

Financial assets are classified based on (1)
the objective of the entity’s business model
for managing the financial assets; (2) the
characteristics of the contractual cash flows.
This replaces the numerous categories of
financial assets in AASB 139, each of which
had its own classification criteria.

(b)

AASB 9 allows an irrevocable election on
initial recognition to present gains and losses
on investments in equity instruments that are
not held for trading in other comprehensive
income. Dividends in respect of these
investments that are a return on investment
can be recognised in profit or loss and there
is no impairment or recycling on disposal of
the instrument.

(c)

Financial assets can be designated and
measured at fair value through profit or loss
at initial recognition if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces a measurement or
recognition inconsistency that would arise
from measuring assets or liabilities, or
recognising the gains and losses on them, on
different bases.

►

These amendments arise from the issuance of
AASB 9 Financial Instruments that sets out
requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets. The
requirements in AASB 9 form part of the first
phase of the International Accounting Standards
Board’s project to replace IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

►

This Standard shall be applied when AASB 9 is
applied.

Application
date for
Group

1 January
2013

The Group may
be affected by
these
amendments.
However, the
Group has not yet
determined the
extent of the
impact, if any.

1 July 2013

1 January
2013

The Group may
be affected by
these
amendments.
However, the
Group has not yet
determined the
extent of the
impact, if any.

1 July 2013

These requirements improve and simplify the
approach for classification and measurement of
financial assets compared with the requirements of
AASB 139. The main changes from AASB 139 are
described below.
(a)

Impact on Group
financial report
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Accounting Policies (continued)
(i) Adoption of new and amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued)
AASB 124
(Revised)

Related Party Disclosures
(December 2009)

The revised AASB 124 simplifies the definition of a
related party, clarifying its intended meaning and
eliminating inconsistencies from the definition,
including:
(a)

The definition now identifies a subsidiary and
an associate with the same investor as
related parties of each other

(b)

Entities significantly influenced by one person
and entities significantly influenced by a
close member of the family of that person are
no longer related parties of each other

(c)

The definition now identifies that, whenever a
person or entity has both joint control over a
second entity and joint control or significant
influence over a third party, the second and
third entities are related to each other

1 January
2011

The Group may
be affected by
these
amendments.
However, the
Group has not yet
determined the
extent of the
impact, if any.

1 July 2011

1 January
2011

The Group may
be affected by
these
amendments.
However, the
Group has not yet
determined the
extent of the
impact, if any.

1 July 2011

1 January
2011

The Group may
be affected by
these
amendments.
However, the
Group has not yet
determined the
extent of the
impact, if any.

1 July 2011

A partial exemption is also provided from the
disclosure requirements for government-related
entities. Entities that are related by virtue of being
controlled by the same government can provide
reduced related party disclosures.
AASB 200912

AASB 200914

Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards
[AASBs 5, 8, 108, 110,
112, 119, 133, 137,
139, 1023 & 1031 and
Interpretations 2, 4, 16,
1039 & 1052]

Amendments to
Australian Interpretation
– Prepayments of a
Minimum Funding
Requirement

This amendment makes numerous editorial changes
to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretations.
In particular, it amends AASB 8 Operating Segments
to require an entity to exercise judgement in
assessing whether a government and entities known
to be under the control of that government are
considered a single customer for the purposes of
certain operating segment disclosures. It also makes
numerous editorial amendments to a range of
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations,
including amendments to reflect changes made to
the text of IFRS by the IASB.
These amendments arise from the issuance of
Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement
(Amendments to IFRIC 14). The requirements of IFRIC
14 meant that some entities that were subject to
minimum funding requirements could not treat any
surplus in a defined benefit pension plan as an
economic benefit.
The amendment requires entities to treat the benefit
of such an early payment as a pension asset.
Subsequently, the remaining surplus in the plan, if
any, is subject to the same analysis as if no
prepayment had been made.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Accounting Policies (continued)
(i) Adoption of new and amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued)
AASB 1053

Application of Tiers of
Australian Accounting
Standards

This Standard establishes a differential financial
reporting framework consisting of two Tiers of
reporting requirements for preparing general purpose
financial statements:
(a)

1 July 2013

Consistently the
Group will use
Tier 1
requirements.

1 July 2013

1 July 2011

The Group may
be affected by
these
amendments.
However, the
Group has not yet
determined the
extent of the
impact, if any.

1 July 2011

1 July 2013

Not applicable

1 July 2013

Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards

(b) Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards –
Reduced Disclosure Requirements
Tier 2 comprises the recognition, measurement and
presentation requirements of Tier 1 and substantially
reduced disclosures corresponding to those
requirements.
The following entities apply Tier 1 requirements in
preparing general purpose financial statements:
(a)

For-profit entities in the private sector that have
public accountability (as defined in this
Standard)

(b) The Australian Government and State, Territory
and Local Governments
The following entities apply either Tier 2 or Tier 1
requirements in preparing general purpose financial
statements:
(a)

For-profit private sector entities that do not have
public accountability

(b) All not-for-profit private sector entities
Public sector entities other than the Australian
Government and State, Territory and Local
Governments
AASB 1054

Australian Additional
Disclosures

This standard is as a consequence of phase 1 of the
joint Trans-Tasman Convergence project of the AASB
and FRSB.
This standard relocates all Australian specific
disclosures from other standards to one place and
revises disclosures in the following areas:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

AASB 20102

Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards arising from
reduced disclosure
requirements

Compliance with Australian Accounting
Standards
The statutory basis or reporting framework for
financial statements
Whether the financial statements are general
purpose or special purpose
Audit fees
Imputation credits

This Standard makes amendments to many
Australian Accounting Standards, reducing the
disclosure requirements for Tier 2 entities, identified
in accordance with AASB 1053, preparing general
purpose financial statements.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Accounting Policies (continued)
(i) Adoption of new and amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued)
AASB 20104

Further Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards arising from
the Annual Improvements
Project [AASB 1, AASB 7,
AASB 101, AASB 134
and Interpretation 13]

Emphasises the interaction between quantitative and
qualitative AASB 7 disclosures and the nature and
extent of risks associated with financial instruments.

1 January
2011

The Group may
be affected by
these
amendments.
However, the
Group has not yet
determined the
extent of the
impact, if any.

1 July 2011

1 January
2011

The Group may
be affected by
these
amendments.
However, the
Group has not yet
determined the
extent of the
impact, if any.

1 July 2011

Clarifies that an entity will present an analysis of
other comprehensive income for each component of
equity, either in the statement of changes in equity or
in the notes to the financial statements.
Provides guidance to illustrate how to apply
disclosure principles in AASB 134 for significant
events and transactions.
Clarifies that when the fair value of award credits is
measured based on the value of the awards for which
they could be redeemed, the amount of discounts or
incentives otherwise granted to customers not
participating in the award credit scheme, is to be
taken into account.

AASB 20105

Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards
[AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101,
107, 112, 118, 119,
121, 132, 133, 134,
137, 139, 140, 1023 &
1038 and Interpretations
112, 115, 127, 132 &
1042]

This Standard makes numerous editorial
amendments to a range of Australian Accounting
Standards and Interpretations, including
amendments to reflect changes made to the text of
IFRS by the IASB.
These amendments have no major impact on the
requirements of the amended pronouncements.

AASB 20106

Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards – Disclosures
on Transfers of Financial
Assets [AASB 1 & AASB
7]

The amendments increase the disclosure
requirements for transactions involving transfers of
financial assets. Disclosures require enhancements
to the existing disclosures in IFRS 7 where an asset is
transferred but is not derecognised and introduce
new disclosures for assets that are derecognised but
the entity continues to have a continuing exposure to
the asset after the sale.

1 July 2011

The Group may
be affected by
these
amendments.
However, the
Group has not yet
determined the
extent of the
impact, if any.

1 July 2011

AASB 20107

Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards arising from
AASB 9 (December
2010)

The requirements for classifying and measuring
financial liabilities were added to AASB 9. The
existing requirements for the classification of
financial liabilities and the ability to use the fair value
option have been retained. However, where the fair
value option is used for financial liabilities the
change in fair value is accounted for as follows:

1 January
2013

The Group may
be affected by
these
amendments.
However, the
Group has not yet
determined the
extent of the
impact, if any.

1 July 2013

1 January
2012

The Group may
be affected by
these
amendments.
However, the
Group has not yet
determined the
extent of the
impact, if any.

1 July 2012

[AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101,
102, 108, 112, 118,
120, 121, 127, 128,
131, 132, 136, 137,
139, 1023, & 1038 and
interpretations 2, 5, 10,
12, 19 & 127]

►

The change attributable to changes in credit risk
are presented in other comprehensive income
(OCI)

►

The remaining change is presented in profit or
loss

If this approach creates or enlarges an accounting
mismatch in the profit or loss, the effect of the
changes in credit risk are also presented in profit or
loss.
AASB 20108

Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards – Deferred
Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets
[AASB 112]

These amendments address the determination of
deferred tax on investment property measured at fair
value and introduce a rebuttable presumption that
deferred tax on investment property measured at fair
value should be determined on the basis that the
carrying amount will be recoverable through sale. The
amendments also incorporate SIC-21 Income Taxes –
Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets into
AASB 112.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Accounting Policies (continued)
(i) Adoption of new and amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued)
AASB 20111

Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards arising from
the Trans-Tasman
Convergence project

This Standard amendments many Australian
Accounting Standards, removing the disclosures
which have been relocated to AASB 1054.

1 July 2011

The Group may
be affected by
these
amendments.
However, the
Group has not yet
determined the
extent of the
impact, if any.

1 July 2011

This Standard makes amendments to the application
of the revised disclosures to Tier 2 entities, that are
applying AASB 1053.

1 July 2013

Not applicable

1 July 2013

IFRS 10 establishes a new control model that applies
to all entities. It replaces parts of IAS 27

1 January
2013

The Group may
be affected by
these
amendments.
However, the
Group has not yet
determined the
extent of the
impact, if any.

1 July 2013

1 January
2013

The Group may
be affected by
these
amendments.
However, the
Group has not yet
determined the
extent of the
impact, if any.

1 July 2013

[AASB 1, AASB 5, AASB
101, AASB 107, AASB
108, AASB 121, AASB
128, AASB 132, AASB
134, Interpretation 2,
Interpretation 112,
Interpretation 113]
AASB 20112

Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards arising from
the Trans-Tasman
Convergence project –
Reduced disclosure
regime
[AASB 101, AASB 1054]

*

Consolidated Financial
Statements

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

dealing with the accounting for consolidated financial
statements and SIC-12 Consolidation – Special

Purpose Entities.

The new control model broadens the situations when
an entity is considered to be controlled by another
entity and includes new guidance for applying the
model to specific situations, including when acting as
a manager may give control, the impact of potential
voting rights and when holding less than a majority
voting rights may give control. This is likely to lead to
more entities being consolidated into the group.
*

Joint Arrangements

IFRS 11 replaces IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures
and SIC-13 Jointly- controlled Entities – Nonmonetary Contributions by Ventures. IFRS 11 uses
the principle of control in IFRS 10 to define joint
control, and therefore the determination of whether
joint control exists may change. In addition IFRS 11
removes the option to account for jointly controlled
entities (JCEs) using proportionate consolidation.
Instead, accounting for a joint arrangement is
dependent on the nature of the rights and obligations
arising from the arrangement. Joint operations that
give the venturers a right to the underlying assets and
obligations themselves is accounted for by
recognising the share of those assets and
obligations. Joint ventures that give the venturers a
right to the net assets is accounted for using the
equity method. This may result in a change in the
accounting for the joint arrangements held by the
group.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Accounting Policies (continued)
(i) Adoption of new and amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued)
*

Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities

IFRS 12 includes all disclosures relating to an entity’s
interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements,
associates and structures entities. New disclosures
have been introduced about the judgements made by
management to determine whether control exists,
and to require summarised information about joint
arrangements, associates and structured entities and
subsidiaries with non-controlling interests.

1 January
2013

The Group may
be affected by
these
amendments.
However, the
Group has not yet
determined the
extent of the
impact, if any.

1 July 2013

*

Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance
under IFRS for determining the fair value of assets
and liabilities. IFRS 13 does not change when an
entity is required to use fair value, but rather, provides
guidance on how to determine fair value under IFRS
when fair value is required or permitted by IFRS.
Application of this definition may result in different
fair values being determined for the relevant assets.

1 January
2013

The Group may
be affected by
these
amendments.
However, the
Group has not yet
determined the
extent of the
impact, if any.

1 July 2013

IFRS 13 also expands the disclosure requirements for
all assets or liabilities carried at fair value. This
includes information about the assumptions made
and the qualitative impact of those assumptions on
the fair value determined.

* The AASB has not issued this standard, which was finalised by the IASB in May 2011
(ii) Voluntary change in accounting policy
As a result of the completion of the acquisition of JDC, the Group has adopted a change in accounting policy relating to Exploration
and Evaluation Expenditure.
The Directors have adopted an accounting policy for Exploration and Evaluation in accordance with AASB 6 “Exploration for and
Evaluation of Mineral Resources” to defer exploration and evaluation expenditure if the right of tenure of the area of interest is
current and either:
(a) the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and
exploitation of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; and
(b) exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the end of the reporting period reached a stage
which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active
and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing.
Under the previous policy, the company expensed all exploration expenditure except for costs incurred in acquiring Exploration and
Evaluation assets.
The directors consider the adoption of the new accounting policy to be more relevant and no less reliable as JDC, the subsidiary
acquired during the period that holds the investment in the coal projects in Indonesia, had a policy of capitalising Exploration and
Evaluation expenditure and this asset represents the principle assets and ongoing focus of the Group. The adoption of the new
accounting policy, which has been applied retrospectively had no impact on the comparative period or on the accumulated losses
at 1 July 2009 as all previous exploration and evaluation expenditure would have impaired in the period incurred. Furthermore, the
change in policy had no impact on the financial performance of the Group for the current reporting period.
(iii) Adoption of policies on acquisition of JDC
As a result of the acquisition, the Group has adopted the following policy.
Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Cokal Limited and its subsidiary (“the Group”) as at and
for the period ended 30 June 2011.
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain
benefits from their activities. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether a group controls another entity.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Accounting Policies (continued)
(iii) Adoption of policies on acquisition of JDC (continued)
The financial statements of the subsidiary are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent
accounting policies. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances, transactions, unrealised gains
and losses resulting from intra‐group transactions and dividends have been eliminated in full.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Group and cease to be consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred out of the Group.
Non‐controlling interests are allocated their share of net profit/(loss) after tax in the statement of comprehensive income and are
presented within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from the equity of the owners of the parent.
Losses are attributed to the non‐controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:
 Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
 Derecognises the carrying amount of any non‐controlling interest
 Derecognises the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity
 Recognises the fair value of the consideration received
 Recognises the fair value of any investment retained
 Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss
 Reclassifies the parent's share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or loss, or
retained earnings, as appropriate
(a)

Business Combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations. Consideration is measured at the fair value
of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the Group and the amount of non‐controlling interest is
the acquiree on acquisition date. Consideration also includes the acquisition date fair values of any contingent consideration
arrangements, any pre‐existing equity interests in the acquiree and share‐based payment awards of the acquiree that are required
to be replaced in a business combination. The acquisition date is the date on which the group obtains control of the acquiree.
Where equity instruments are issued as part of the consideration, the value of the equity instruments is their published market
price at the acquisition date unless, in rare circumstances it can be demonstrated that the published price at acquisition date is not
fair value and that other evidence and valuation methods provide a more reliable measure of fair value.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in business combinations are, with limited exceptions,
initially measured at their fair values at acquisition date. Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred and the
amount of the non‐controlling interest in the acquiree over fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired. If the consideration
and non‐controlling interest of the acquiree is less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired, the difference is
recognised in profit or loss as a bargain purchase price, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the
net assets acquired.
For each business combination, the Group measures non‐controlling interests at either fair value or at the non‐controlling interest's
proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets.
Acquisition‐related costs are expensed when incurred. Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised
directly in equity.
If the business combinations is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest is
the acquire is remeasured to fair value at the date of acquisition through profit and loss.
Where the Group obtains control of a subsidiary that was previously accounted for as an equity accounted investment in associate
or jointly controlled entity, the Group remeasures its previously held equity interest in the acquiree at its acquisition date fair value
and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where the Group obtains control of a subsidiary that was previously
accounted for as an available‐for‐sale investment, any balance on the available‐for‐sale reserve related to that investment is
recognised in profit or loss as if the Group had disposed directly of the previously held interest.
Where settlement of any part of the cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in future are discounted to present value
at the date of exchange using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(a)

Business Combinations (continued)

Contingent consideration is classified as equity or financial liabilities. Amounts classified as financial liabilities are subsequently
remeasured to fair value at the end of each reporting period, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. If the
contingent consideration is classified as equity, it should not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.
Assets and liabilities from business combinations involving entities or businesses under common control are accounted for at the
carrying amounts recognised in the Group's controlling shareholder's consolidated financial statements.
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash generating Unit (CGU)
or Group of CGU that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the CGU to which it relates. Impairment assessment for goodwill is carried out each reporting period.
Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not subsequently reversed.
(b)

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of returns,
trade allowances and duties and taxes paid. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is
recognised:
Interest
Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method.
(c)

Income Tax

The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the current period's taxable income based on the national income tax
rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences between
the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, between carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and their respective tax bases, at the tax rates expected to apply when the assets are recovered or
liabilities settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. Exceptions are made
for certain temporary differences arising on initial recognition of an asset or a liability if they arose in a transaction, other than a
business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit.
Deferred tax assets are only recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses if it is probable that future
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of
investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Current and deferred tax balances relating to amounts recognised directly in other comprehensive income and equity are also
recognised directly in other comprehensive income and equity, respectively.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
profitable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against
tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
Cokal Limited and its wholly‐owned subsidiaries are in the process of implementing the tax consolidation legislation. Cokal Limited
will be the head entity in the tax consolidated group. These entities will be taxed as a single entity and deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in these consolidated financial statements.
(d)

Impairment of Assets other than Goodwill

At the end of each reporting period the Group assesses whether there is any indication that individual assets other than goodwill,
are impaired. Where impairment indicators exist, recoverable amount is determined and impairment losses are recognised in profit
or loss where the asset's carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre‐tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(d)

Impairment of Assets other than Goodwill (continued)

Where it is not possible to estimate recoverable amount for an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash‐generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are tested for possible reverse of the impairment and whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the impairment may have reversed.
(e)

Joint Venture Operations

The proportionate share of the Group's interests in the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of joint venture operations have
been incorporated in the financial statements under the appropriate headings. Details of joint venture operations are set out in
Note 12.
(f)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and at bank, deposits held at call
with financial institutions, other short term, highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less, that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and bank overdrafts.
(g)

Trade Receivables

Trade receivables are recognised at original invoice amounts less an allowance for uncollectible amounts and have repayment
terms between 0 and 90 days. Collectability of trade receivables is assessed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be
uncollectible are written off. An allowance is made for doubtful debts where there is objective evidence that the Group will not be
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms. Objective evidence of impairment includes financial difficulties of
the debtor, default payments or debts more than 180 days overdue. On confirmation that the trade receivable will not be
collectible the gross carrying value of the asset is written off against the associated provision.
From time to time, the Group elects to renegotiate the terms of trade receivables due from customers with which it has previously
had a good trading history. Such renegotiations will lead to changes in the timing of payments rather than changes to the amounts
owed and are not, in the view of the directors, sufficient to require the derecognition of the original instrument.
(h)

Fair Values

Fair values may be used for financial asset and liability measurement and well as for sundry disclosures.
Fair values for financial instruments traded in active markets are based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.
The quoted market price for financial assets is the current bid price and the quoted market price.
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to
their short‐term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.
(i)

Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment losses.
The cost of plant and equipment constructed within the Group includes the cost of materials, direct labour, borrowing costs and an
appropriate portion of fixed and variable costs.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the consolidated entity and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
Depreciation
The depreciable amount of plant and equipment is depreciated over their useful life to the Group commencing from the time the
asset is held ready for use.
The depreciation rates used for each class of assets are:
Class of Fixed Asset

Depreciation Rate

Computer Equipment

33.3% straight line

Furniture and Office Equipment

10 – 33.3% straight line
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(i)

Plant and Equipment (continued)

Depreciation (continued)
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal.
Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. The gains and losses are included in
the statement of comprehensive income.
(j)

Exploration, Evaluation and Development Expenditure

Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest. Such
expenditures comprise net direct costs and an appropriate portion of related overhead expenditure but do not include overheads
or administration expenditure not having a specific nexus with a particular area of interest. These costs are only carried forward to
the extent that they are expected to be recouped through the successful development of the area or where activities in the area
have not yet reached a stage which permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves and
active or significant operations in relation to the area are continuing.
When a technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a coal resource have been demonstrated then any capitalised
exploration and evaluation expenditure is classified as capitalised mine development. Prior to reclassification, capitalised
exploration and evaluation expense is assessed for impairment.
A regular review has been undertaken on each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry forward
costs in relation to that area of interest. Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in
the year in which the decision to abandon the area is made.
Costs related to the acquisition of properties that contain coal resources are allocated separately to specific areas of interest.
These costs are capitalised until the viability of the area of interest is determined.
The stripping costs (the process of mining over burden and water material removal) incurred before production commences are
included within mine development expenditure and subsequently amortised. The stripping costs subsequent to commencement of
production are recorded as production costs.
When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest (mine development and acquired properties)
are amortised over the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves.
Costs of site restoration are provided over the life of the facility from when exploration commences and are included in the costs of
that stage. Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of mining plant, equipment and building structure, waste
removal, and rehabilitation of the site in accordance with clauses of mining permits. Such costs have been determined using
estimates of future costs, current legal requirements and technology on an undiscounted basis.
Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted on a prospective basis. In determining the costs of site restoration, there
is uncertainty regarding the nature and extent of the restoration due to community expectations and future legislation.
Accordingly the costs have been determined on the basis that restoration will be completed within one year of abandoning the site.
(k)

Accounts payable

Accounts payable represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the year end and which are unpaid.
These amounts are unsecured and have 7 ‐ 30 day payment terms. They are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method due to short term nature.
(l)

Employee Benefits

Wages and Salaries, Annual Leave and Sick Leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non‐monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be settled
within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are recognised in respect of employees' services rendered up to the end of the
reporting period and are measured at amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non‐accumulating
sick leave are recognised when leave is taken and measured at the actual rates paid or payable. In determining the liability,
consideration is given to employee wage increases and the probability that the employee may satisfy vesting requirements.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Provisions
Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good obligations are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that that an outflow of economic resources will be required to
settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated.
(n)

Issued Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown as a deduction
from the equity proceeds, net of any income tax benefit.
(o)

Share‐Based Payments

The Group provides benefits to employees (including directors) in the form of share‐based payment transactions, whereby
employees render services in exchange for shares or options over shares ("equity‐settled transactions").
The fair value of options granted to employees are recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase in
equity (option reserve). The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the period during which the employees
become unconditionally entitled to the options. Fair value is determined by an independent valuer using a Black‐Scholes option
pricing model. In determining fair value, no account is taken of any performance conditions other than those related to the share
price of Cokal Limited ("market conditions"). The cumulative expense recognised between grant date and vesting date is adjusted
to reflect the directors’ best estimate of the number of options that will ultimately vest because of internal conditions of the
options, such as the employees having to remain with the Group until vesting date, or such that employees are required to meet
internal performance targets. No expense is recognised for options that do not ultimately vest because internal conditions were
not met. An expense is still recognised for options that do not ultimately vest because a market condition was not met.
At each subsequent reporting date until vesting the cumulative charge to the statement of comprehensive income is the product
of:
• The grant date fair value of the award,
• The current best estimate of the number of awards that will vest, taking into account such factors as the likelihood of
employees turnover during the vesting period and the likelihood of non‐market performance conditions being met and
• The expired portion of the vesting period
The charge to the statement of comprehensive income for the period is the cumulative amount as calculated above less the
amounts already charged in previous periods. There is a corresponding entry to equity.
Where the terms of options are modified, the expense continues to be recognised from grant date to vesting date as if the terms
had never been changed. In addition, at the date of the modification, a further expense is recognised for any increase in fair value
of the transaction as a result of the change.
Where options are cancelled, they are treated as if vesting occurred on cancellation and any unrecognised expenses are taken
immediately to profit or loss. However, if new options are substituted for the cancelled options and designated as a replacement
on grant date, the combined impact of the cancellation and replacement options are treated as if they were a modification.
The dilutions effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilutions in the compilations of diluted earnings
per share.
(p)

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of Cokal Limited by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares during the year.
Diluted earnings per share
Earnings used to calculate diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the amount used in determining basic earnings per
share by the after‐tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares. The weighted average
number of shares used is adjusted for the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in
relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(q)

GST

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of GST except where GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not
recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part
of the expense item.
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the
taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the statements of financial position.
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing
and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are classified as operating cash flows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.
(r)

Accounting Estimates and Judgments

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Details of critical accounting estimates and judgements about the future made by management at the end of the reporting period
are set out below:
(i)

Key estimates – share‐based payments
The Group uses estimates to determine the fair value of equity instruments issued to directors, executives and
employees. Further detail of estimates used in determining the value of share‐based payments is included in Note 26.

(ii) Key estimates – impairment
The Group assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Group that may lead to
impairment of assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Value‐in‐
use calculations performed in assessing recoverable amounts incorporate a number of key estimates. No assets are
considered impaired at year end.
(iii) Key judgements – exploration and evaluation assets
The Group performs regular reviews on each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry
forward costs in relation to that area of interest. While there are certain areas of interest from which no reserves have
been extracted, the directors are of the continued belief that such expenditure should not be written off since feasibility
studies in such areas have not yet concluded. Such capitalised expenditure is carried at the end of the reporting period at
$26,753,667 (2010: Nil).
(iv) Taxation
The Group’s accounting policy for taxation requires management’s judgement as to the types of arrangements
considered to be a tax on income in contrast to an operating cost. Judgement is also required in assessing whether
deferred tax assets and certain deferred tax liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet. Deferred tax assets, including
those arising from unrecouped tax losses, capital losses and temporary differences, are recognised only where it is
considered more likely than not that they will be recovered, which is dependent on the generation of sufficient future
taxable profits. Judgements are also required about the application of income tax legislation. These judgements and
assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty, hence there is a possibility that changes in circumstances will alter
expectations, which may impact the amount of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities recognised on the balance
sheet and the amount of other tax losses and temporary differences not yet recognised. In such circumstances, some or
all of the carrying amounts of recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities may require adjustment, resulting in a
corresponding credit or change to the income statement.
(v) Estimation of useful lives of plant and equipment
The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on estimated useful lives as published by the Australian
Taxation Office. In addition, the condition of the assets is assessed at least once per year and considered against the
remaining useful life. Adjustments to useful lives are made when considered necessary.
(s)

Determination and presentation of operating segments

The Group has applied AASB 8 Operating Segments from 1 July 2009. AASB 8 requires a management approach under which
segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes. Operating segments are now
reported in a manner that is consistent with the internal reporting to the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), which has been
identified by the Group Managing Director and other members of the Board of Directors.
Operating segments that meet the qualification criteria as prescribed by AASB are reported separately. However, an operating
segment that does not meet the qualifications criteria is still reported separately when information about the segment would be
useful to users of the financial statements.
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NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(t)

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the financials assets has expired or when the entity
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of the financial assets. If the entity neither remains nor transfers substantially all of
the risks and rewards, it derecognises the asset if it has transferred control of the asset.
A financial liability is deregistered when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. When an existing
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability is
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of
a new liability and the difference is the respective carrying amounts is recognised as profit or loss.
(u)

Foreign Currency translation

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the exchange rates ruling at the date
of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at
the reporting date. The resulted gain or loss on retranslation is included as profit or loss.
Non‐monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at
the date of the initial transaction. Non‐monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
The foreign operating results are translated at the average rate transaction and the assets and liabilities are translated at the
exchange rates prevailing at reporting date. Exchange variations resulting from the translation are recognised in the equity.
(v)

Operating leases

Operating lease payments are recognised as an operating expense in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line
basis over the leave term. Operating lease incentives are recognised as a liability when received and subsequently reduced by
allocating lease payments between rental expense and reduction of the liability.
(w) Parent entity financial information
The financial information for the parent entity, Cokal Limited, included in note 20, has been prepared on the same basis as the
consolidated financial statements, except as follows:
Investments in subsidiaries and joint rental operations
Investments in subsidiaries and joint venture operations are accounted for at cost.
Tax consolidation
Cokal Limited and its wholly‐owned subsidiaries are in the process of implementing the tax consolidation legislation. Cokal Limited
will be the head entity in the tax consolidated group. These entities will be taxed as a single entity. The stand‐alone
taxpayer/separate taxpayer within a group approach has been used to allocate current income tax expense and deferred tax
expense to wholly‐owned subsidiaries that form part of the tax consolidated group. Cokal Limited has assumed all the current tax
liabilities and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses for the tax consolidated group via intercompany receivables
and payables because a tax funding arrangement has been in place for the whole financial year. The amounts receivable/payable
under tax funding arrangements are due upon notification by the head entity, which is issued soon after the end of each financial
year. Interim funding notices may also be issued by the head entity to its wholly‐owned subsidiaries in order for the head entity to
be able to pay tax instalments. These amounts are recognised as current intercompany receivables or payables (refer note 20).
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Consolidated

Company

2011

2010

$

$

NOTE 2 REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
Revenue
Interest received
-

other persons

469,542

63,470

Total interest revenue

469,542

63,470

469,542

63,470

29,164

‐

Total revenue
Other Income
Profit on sale of tenements
Foreign exchange gain

85,782

‐

114,946

‐

584,488

63,470

4,344

7,379

Pre‐tenure exploration expenses

101,321

206,674

Salaries and wages

781,842

261,300

30,320

18,993

708,700

‐

70,335

39,110

3

‐

6,772

‐

Total revenue and other income from
continuing operations

NOTE 3 LOSS FOR THE YEAR
Loss before income tax includes the
following specific expenses:
Depreciation on plant and equipment

Superannuation
Share‐based payments (options)
Operating lease expense – minimum lease payment
Interest paid
Loss on sale of plant and equipment
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Consolidated

Company

2011

2010

$

$

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The prima facie income tax on the loss is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows:
Prima facie tax benefit (30%) on loss before
income tax

(793,174)

(232,013)

793,174

232,013

‐

‐

Capital raising

‐

122,024

Business related capital costs

‐

1,942

458,949

12,675

10,655,388

2,008,188

11,114,337

2,144,829

8,026,100

2,888

(3,088,237)

(2,141,941)

‐

‐

Add tax effect of:
-

Deferred tax asset not recognised

Income tax expense
Deferred tax assets

Deductible temporary differences
Carry forward tax losses

Deferred tax liabilities
Assessable temporary differences
Net deferred tax assets not recognised

There are no franking credits available to shareholders of Cokal Limited.
In order to recoup carried forward losses in future periods, either the Continuity of Ownership Test (COT) or Same Business Test
must be passed. The majority of losses are carried forward at 30 June 2011 under COT.
Deferred tax assets which have not been recognised as an asset, will only be obtained if:
(i)

the Group derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the losses to be realised;

(ii) the Group continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by the law; and
(iii) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Group in realising the losses
NOTE 5 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
(a) Key management personnel compensation

Short‐term employee benefits
Post‐employment benefits
Termination benefits
Share‐based payments

Consolidated

Company

2011

2010

$

$
937,734

249,628

17,352

18,300

‐

‐

659,385

‐

1,614,471

267,928

Further information regarding the identity of key management personnel and their compensation can be found in the Audited
Remuneration Report contained in the directors' report on pages 7 to 19 of this annual report.

52 | COKAL LIMITED Annual Report 2011

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2011

NOTE 5 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (continued)
(b) Equity instruments
Shareholdings
Details of ordinary shares held directly, indirectly or beneficially by key management personnel and their related parties are as
follows:
Balance
1 July 2010

Granted as
Remuneration

Net Change
Other

On Exercise of Options

Balance
30 June 2011

Directors
Peter Lynch #

‐

‐

‐

55,000,000

55,000,000

Jim Middleton #

‐

‐

‐

10,000,000

10,000,000

Pat Hanna #

‐

‐

‐

25,000,000

25,000,000

Domenic Martino #

‐

‐

‐

36,513,334

36,513,334

Harjinder Kehal ^

365,686

‐

‐

(365,686)

‐

Jeremy Shervington ^

3,951,807

‐

‐

(3,951,807)

‐

Bradley Abbott ^

2,000,686

‐

‐

(2,000,686)

‐

Nick Archibald *

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

Chris Turvey ^

‐

‐

‐

1,000,000

1,000,000

Duncan Cornish ^

‐

‐

‐

3,000,000

3,000,000

6,318,179

‐

‐

124,195,155

130,513,334

Senior Management

Total
* resigned 25 August 2010
^ resigned 24 December 2010
# appointed 24 December 2010

There were no shares held nominally at 30 June 2011.
Balance
1 July 2009

Granted as
Remuneration

Net Change
Other **

On Exercise of Options

Balance
30 June 2010

Directors
Harjinder Kehal

365,686

‐

‐

‐

365,686

Jeremy Shervington **

2,195,418

‐

‐

1,756,389

3,951,807

Bradley Abbott **

1,250,685

‐

‐

750,001

2,000,686

Nick Archibald

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

Godfrey Rule *

515,686

‐

‐

(515,686)

‐

4,327,475

‐

‐

1,990,704

6,318,179

Total

* resigned 17 November 2009
** Bradley Abbott and Jeremy Shervington participated in an Entitlement Offer, which closed on 20 January 2010, on the same terms and
conditions as all other shareholders of the Company. Bradley Abbott took up 750,001 ordinary shares and Jeremy Shervington 1,756,359 ordinary
shares, the options were issued free, on a one for two basis.

There were no shares held nominally at 30 June 2010.
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NOTE 5 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (continued)
(b) Equity instruments (continued)
Options holdings
Granted as
Remuneration

Balance
1 July 2010

Exercise of
Options

Net Change
Other

Total vested at
30 June 2011

Balance
30 June 2011

Total vested and Total vested and
exercisable at unexercisable at
30 June 2011
30 June 2011

Directors
Peter Lynch #

‐

‐

‐

5,500,000

5,500,000

5,500,000

5,500,000

‐

Jim Middleton #

‐

10,000,000

‐

1,000,000

11,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

‐

Pat Hanna #

‐

‐

‐

2,500,000

2,500,000

2,500,000

2,500,000

‐

Domenic Martino #

‐

‐

‐

4,246,667

4,246,667

4,246,667

4,246,667

‐

Harjinder Kehal ^

1,525,000

‐

‐

(1,525,000)

‐

‐

‐

‐

Jeremy Shervington ^

2,403,179

‐

‐

(2,403,179)

‐

‐

‐

‐

Bradley Abbott ^

1,900,000

‐

‐

(1,900,000)

‐

‐

‐

‐

Nick Archibald *

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

Chris Turvey

‐

2,000,000

‐

100,000

2,100,000

100,000

100,000

‐

Duncan Cornish

‐

‐

‐

100,000

100,000

100,000

100,000

‐

5,828,179

12,000,000

‐

7,418,488

25,446,667

13,446,667

13,446,667

‐

Senior Management

Total

* resigned 25 August 2010
^ resigned 24 December 2010
# appointed 24 December 2010
Granted as
Remuneration

Balance
1 July 2009

Exercise of
Options

Net Change
Other **

Total vested at
30 June 2010

Balance
30 June 2010

Total vested and Total vested and
exercisable at unexercisable at
30 June 2010
30 June 2010

Directors
Harjinder Kehal

1,525,000

‐

‐

‐

1,525,000

1,525,000

1,525,000

‐

Jeremy Shervington **

1,525,000

‐

‐

878,179

2,403,179

2,403,179

2,403,179

‐

Bradley Abbott **

1,525,000

‐

‐

375,000

1,900,000

1,900,000

1,900,000

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

Nick Archibald
Godfrey Rule *

1,525,000

‐

(525,000)

(1,000,000)

‐

‐

‐

‐

Total

6,100,000

‐

(525,000)

253,179

5,828,179

5,828,179

5,828,179

‐

* resigned 17 November 2009
** Bradley Abbott and Jeremy Shervington participated in an Entitlement Offer, which closed on 20 January 2010, on the same terms and
conditions as all other shareholders of the Company. Bradley Abbott took up 750,001 ordinary shares and Jeremy Shervington 1,756,359 ordinary
shares, the options were issued free, on a one for two basis.

(c) Loans to Key Management Personnel
There were no loans to Key Management Personnel during the year.
(d) Other transactions and balances
Other transactions with Key Management Personnel are set out in Note 28 (d). There were no other transactions or balances with
Key Management Personnel during the year.
NOTE 6 DIVIDENDS AND FRANKING CREDITS
There were no dividends paid or recommended during the financial year.
There were no franking credits available to the shareholders of the Group.
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Consolidated

Company

2011

2010

$

$

NOTE 7 AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
Audit services
Amounts paid/payable to Ernst & Young for audit
or review of the financial statements for the Group

39,571

34,292

15,000

‐

54,571

34,292

(2,643,913)

(773,376)

Accounting services
Amounts paid/payable to Ernst & Young for non‐
audit taxation services performed for the Group
Accounting advice

NOTE 8 LOSS PER SHARE
Loss attributable to owners of Cokal Limited
used to calculate basic and diluted loss per
share

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the
denominator in calculating basic loss per share

2011

2010

Number

Number

190,183,195

28,991,905

‐

‐

190,183,195

28,991,905

Basic loss per share (cents per share)

(1.39)

(2.67)

Diluted loss per share (cents per share)

(1.39)

(2.67)

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:
Options *
Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential
ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating diluted loss
per share

* options are considered anti‐dilutive as the Group is loss making.

Options could potentially dilute earnings per share in the future. Refer to Note 17 for details of option granted as at 30 June 2011.
Consolidated

Company

2011

2010

$

$

NOTE 9 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash at bank and in hand

17,216,696

2,651,054

GST receivable

64,492

5,626

Sundry receivables

98,347

15,422

162,839

21,048

Cash at bank bear floating and fixed interest rates between 1% and 5.21% (2010: 3.45%).

NOTE 10 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Current

No receivables balances are past due or impaired at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTE 11 SUBSIDIARIES
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance
with the accounting policy described in note 1.
Country of
Incorporation

Class of
Shares

Australia

Cokal Mozambique Pty Ltd
Cokal Holdings Pte. Ltd
Cokal‐AAK Pte. Ltd
Cokal‐AAM Pte. Ltd

Name of entity
Jack Doolan Capital Pty Ltd

Percentage Owned
(%)*
2011

2010

Ordinary

100%

‐

Australia

Ordinary

100%

‐

Singapore

Ordinary

100%

‐

Singapore

Ordinary

100%

‐

Singapore

Ordinary

100%

‐

Cokal‐BBM Pte. Ltd

Singapore

Ordinary

100%

‐

Cokal‐BBP Pte. Ltd

Singapore

Ordinary

100%

‐

Cokal Services Pte. Ltd

Singapore

Ordinary

100%

‐

Cokal Karoo Pte. Ltd

Singapore

Ordinary

100%

‐

Cokal Manda Pte. Ltd

Singapore

Ordinary

100%

‐

PT Cokal

Indonesia

Ordinary

100%

‐

PT Anugerah Alam Katingan

Indonesia

Ordinary

75%

‐

PT Anugerah Alam Manuhing

Indonesia

Ordinary

75%

‐

PT Bumi Barito Mineral #

Indonesia

Ordinary

50%

‐

PT Borneo Bara Prima #

Indonesia

Ordinary

50%

‐

* the proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held.
# refer Note 16

NOTE 12 JOINT VENTURE OPERATIONS
During the financial year, the Group announced the signing of a Joint Venture (JV) operation to explore for coal in Tanzania. The
JV is with private company, Tanzoz Resources Ltd which has been active in Tanzania since 2007, and currently holds interests in
Tanzania for uranium, gold and coal.
Under the terms of the JV, the Group will earn a 50% interest in an existing exploration project and will act as manager for the
expenditure of a minimum of $500,000 by the 31st of December 2011. The Group will also expend a minimum of $1,000,000 by
31st of December 2011, to earn a 60% interest on a range of other potential projects considered prospective for coal in
Tanzania.
Under the terms of the JV, the JV also has the right to any coal opportunities on any of Tanzoz’s current or future coal
opportunities in Tanzania in, subject to the meeting of minimum funding requirements in‐line with a 60:40 equity split.
The Group share of the expenditure commitment for this joint venture has been appropriately recognised in Note 21
Commitments.
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Consolidated

Company

2011

2010

$

$

NOTE 13 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Computer equipment
At cost

43,094

‐

Accumulated depreciation

(3,923)

‐

39,171

‐

401,797

42,095

(421)

(27,263)

401,376

14,832

440,547

14,832

Furniture and office equipment
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

Total plant and equipment
(a) Movements in carrying amounts
Consolidated
2011

Computer
equipment

Furniture
and office
equipment

Total

$

$

$

Balance at the beginning of the year

‐

14,832

14,832

Additions

43,094

401,737

444,831

Disposals

‐

(14,772)

(14,772)

Depreciation expense

(3,923)

(421)

(4,344)

Carrying amount at the end of the year

39,171

401,376

440,547

Company
2010

Balance at the beginning of the year

Computer
equipment

Furniture
and office
equipment

Total

$

$

$

‐

22,211

22,211

Additions

‐

‐

‐

Depreciation expense

‐

(7,379)

(7,379)

Carrying amount at the end of the year

‐

14,832

14,832
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Consolidated

Company

2011
$

2010
$

NOTE 14 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
Non‐Current
Exploration and evaluation expenditure capitalised
‐ exploration and evaluation phases

26,753,667

‐

Recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration assets is dependent on the successful development and commercial
exploitation of coal, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas of interest.
(a) Movements in carrying amounts
Balance at the beginning of the year

‐

50,000

Addition on acquisition of subsidiary (note 24)

10,186,576

‐

Other additions

16,567,091

‐

‐

(50,000)

26,753,667

‐

35,500

‐

207,037

‐

Unsuccessful exploration expenses
derecognised
Carrying amount at the end of the year
Commitments for exploration and evaluation expenditure are disclosed in Note 21.
NOTE 15 OTHER ASSETS
Current
Prepayments
Non‐Current
Security deposits
NOTE 16 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
Current
Sundry payables and accrued expenses *

8,178,078

47,295

Employee benefits

44,522

‐

Deferred liability **

46,125

‐

8,268,725

47,295

322,875

‐

Non‐Current
Deferred liability **

On 30 June 2011 Cokal Limited entered into an agreement to purchase an additional 10% of both the Bumi Barito Mineral (BBM)
and Borneo Bara Prima (BBP) projects. The purchase or the additional equity will bring Cokal Limited’s ownership of the two
projects to 60%.
Under the terms of the agreement Cokal Limited will purchase an additional 10% of the shares in the two Indonesian PMA holding
companies PT Bumi Barito Mineral and PT Borneo Bara Prima. The transaction will be subject to the normal regulatory approvals.
Upon the satisfactory completion of certain corporate and regulatory approvals, Cokal Limited will pay the vendors total
consideration of $7,549,160 (US$8,000,000) plus 1,000,000 ordinary shares in Cokal Limited at $0.75 included in equity.
* The above liability of $7,549,160 was included under “sundry payables and accrued expenses”.
** Deferred liability represents deferred benefit on operating lease incentives.
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Consolidated

Company

2011
$

2010
$

NOTE 17 ISSUED CAPITAL
338,585,735 authorised and fully paid
ordinary shares (2009: 42,730,134)

41,731,103

6,210,843

2011
Number

2010
Number

42,730,134

20,453,363

- Share issue (1)

‐

21,741,371

- Conversion of options to shares (2)

‐

535,400

210,000,000

‐

- Share issue from capital raising (4)

66,666,669

‐

- Share issue from capital raising (5)

16,000,000

- Conversion of options to shares (6)

3,188,932

‐

338,585,735

42,730,134

(a) Ordinary shares
At the beginning of the year
Shares issued during the year

- Share issue on acquisition (3)

At reporting date

(1) On 12 February 2010, 21,741,371 ordinary shares and 13,870,689 free options were issued on completion of an
underwritten pro rata entitlement offer.
(2) During the year ended 30 June 2010 535,400 ordinary shares were issued on conversion of options at prices varying between
$0.10 and $0.20 each.
(3) On 24 December 2010, 210 million ordinary shares and 21 million options were issued as consideration for the acquisition of
the net assets of Jack Doolan Capital Pty Ltd. Further details of the acquisition are included in Note 24.
(4) On 24 December 2010, a capital raising of 66,666,669 ordinary shares at a price of $0.30 was completed, as part of the
requirements for the acquisition of Jack Doolan Capital Pty Ltd. Further details of the acquisition are included in Note 24.
(5) On 19 April 2011, a private placement to institutional investors of 16,000,000 ordinary shares at a price of $0.75 was
completed.
(6) During the year ended 30 June 2011 3,188,932 ordinary shares were issued on conversion of options at prices varying
between $0.10 and $0.20 each.
Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Group in proportion to the number of shares
held. At shareholders meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each shareholder has
one vote on a show of hands.
(b) Options
All options on issue at 30 June 2011 were as follows:
Employees shares based payments:
Number of
options

Exercise price

Expiry date

1,050,000

$0.10

8 August 2011

2,000,000

$0.20

31 December 2012

6,000,000

$0.50

29 December 2014

6,000,000

$0.75

29 December 2014

1,225,000

$0.75

12 April 2015

550,000

$1.00

29 June 2015

16,825,000
For information relating to the Cokal Limited employee option plan, including details of options issued, exercised and lapsed
during the financial year and the options outstanding at year‐end refer to Note 26.
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NOTE 17 ISSUED CAPITAL (continued)
(b) Options (continued)
Other options:
Number of
options

Exercise price

Expiry date

13,196,357 *

$0.20

1 February 2012

21,000,000 **

$0.30

31 December 2012

34,196,357
* Free attaching options issued as part of Entitlement Offer completed during the year ended 30 June 2010.
** Options issued as partial consideration for the acquisition of Jack Doolan Capital Pty Ltd (JDC). Refer to Note 24.
(c) Capital Risk Management
Management controls the capital of the Group in order to provide capital growth to shareholders and ensure the Group can
fund its operations and continue as a going concern.
The Group capital comprises equity as shown in the Statement of Financial Position. There are no externally imposed capital
requirements.
Management effectively manages the Group capital by assessing the Group financial risks and adjusting its capital structure in
response to changes in these risks and the market. These responses include the management share issues.
There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the Group since the prior year.
Consolidated

Company

2011

2010

$

$

NOTE 18 RESERVES
Option Reserve – director, executive
and employee options

727,719

19,019

The option reserve records the value of options issued as part of capital raisings, as well as expenses relating to director,
executive and employee share options.
NOTE 19 ACCUMULATED LOSSES
Accumulated losses attributable to
members of Cokal Limited at
beginning of the financial year

(3,590,223)

(2,816,847)

Losses for the year

(2,643,913)

(773,376)

Accumulated losses attributable to
members of Cokal Limited at the end
of the financial year

(6,234,136)

(3,590,223)
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NOTE 20 PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION
The Corporations Act requirement to prepare parent entity financial statements where consolidated financial statements are
prepared has been removed and replaced by the new regulation 2M.3.01 which requires the following limited disclosure in
regards to the parent entity (Cokal Limited). The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results
of the parent entity in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 1.
Parent Entity

2011

2010

$

$

Current assets

27,092,298

2,672,102

Non‐current assets

10,571,796

14,832

Total assets

37,664,094

2,686,934

Current liabilities

507,904

47,295

Total liabilities

507,904

47,295

Net assets

37,156,190

2,639,639

Issued capital

41,731,103

6,210,843

727,719

19,019

Accumulated losses

(5,302,632)

(3,590,223)

Total shareholder’s equity

37,156,190

2,639,639

Loss for the year

(1,712,410)

(773,376)

Total comprehensive loss for the year

(1,712,410)

(773,376)

Reserves

Guarantees
No guarantees have been entered into by the parent entity in relation to debts of its subsidiaries.
Contractual Commitments
There were no contractual commitments for the acquisition of plant and equipment entered into by the parent entity at 30 June
2011 (2010 – nil).
Contingent liabilities
The parent entity has no contingent liabilities.

Capital commitments
The parent entity has no capital commitments.
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Consolidated

Company

2011

2010

$

$

NOTE 21 COMMITMENTS
(a) Operating lease commitments
Future minimum rentals payable under non‐cancellable operating leases as at 30 June 2011 are as follows:
Payable
‐ not later than 12 months
‐ between 12 months and 5 years
‐ greater than 5 years

236,057

17,364

1,387,613

‐

483,024

‐

2,106,693

17,364

(b) Future exploration capital expenditure commitments
The Group has certain obligations to expend minimum amounts on exploration in tenement areas. These obligations may be
varied from time to time and are expected to be fulfilled in the normal course of operations of the Group.
The commitments to be undertaken are as follows:
Payable
‐ not later than 12 months
‐ between 12 months and 5 years
‐ greater than 5 years

345,000

117,400

1,020,000

‐

‐

‐

1,365,000

117,400

Gascoyne Tenements (Australia)
During the September 2010 quarter Cokal purchased a 100% interest in Gascoyne JV tenements from ABM Resources and as a
result the joint venture agreement with ABM Resources NL was terminated. All tenements comprising the project were
subsequently disposed of to an unrelated third party during the December 2010 quarter, accordingly the company no longer has
any exploration commitments in relation to these tenements.
Inglewood Coal Joint Venture Tenements (Australia)
There are six Queensland EPC applications (1650, 1651, 1653, 1661, 1666 and 1667) within the Inglewood Coal Joint Venture
that remain in the application stage as at 30 June 2011 and the date of this report. The Joint Venture came into effect on 1 July
2010 and under the terms of the Joint Venture it is Dragon Energy Ltd’s responsibility to fulfil the statutory exploration
commitments once the EPC’s are granted. The terms of the JV require expenditure by Dragon of at least $3.5 million over 3
years to earn an 85% interest.
Queensland Coal Tenements (Australia)
Five Queensland granted EPC’s (1649, 1652, 1660, 1664 & 1665) and two Queensland EPC applications (1648 and 1662) were
removed from the Inglewood Coal JV during the financial year and the consolidated entity retains a 100% interest in them. A
review of the coal potential within EPC’s 1648 & 1660 undertaken by IMC Mining Group Pty Ltd (IMC) suggests that significant
potential exists for coal deposits in the Evergreen formation. The annual statutory exploration expenditure commitments
required to maintain the Group mineral exploration granted tenements are included above.
If the minimum expenditure requirements are not met, the Group has the option to negotiate new terms or relinquish the
tenements. The Group also has the ability to meet expenditure requirements by joint venture or farm‐in agreements.
NOTE 22 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS
Native Title Claims – Queensland, Australia
It is possible that native title, as defined in the Native Title Act 1993, might exist over land in which the Group has an interest in
Queensland, Australia. It is impossible at this stage to quantify any impact the existence of native title may have on the
operations of the Group. However, at the date of this report, the directors are aware that applications for native title claims
have been accepted by the Native Title Tribunal over Queensland tenements held by the Group.
JDC Contracts – Kalimantan, Indonesia
The contingent liabilities in relation to the acquisition of Jack Doolan Capital Pty Ltd (JDC) are disclosed in Note 24.
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The directors are not aware of any other significant contingent liabilities or contingent assets at the date of this report.
NOTE 23 OPERATING SEGMENTS
AASB 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports that are used by the chief operating
decision makers (“CODM”) in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance. The CODM of the Group
are the Board of Directors.
For management purposes, the Group is organised into three main operating segments, which involves the exploration of coal
in Indonesia, Tanzania and Australia. Discrete financial information is reported to the Board (Chief Operating Decision Maker)
as three segments since acquisition of Jack Doolan Capital Pty Ltd.

Australia

Indonesia

Tanzania

Total

$

$

$

$

29,164

85,782

‐

114,946

469,542

‐

‐

469,542

‐

‐

‐

‐

Total segment income

498,706

85,782

‐

584,488

Depreciation expenses

(4,245)

(99)

‐

(4,344)

Segment performance for year ended
30 June 2011
Revenue
Other revenue
Interest revenue
Intersegment income

(101,321)

‐

‐

(101,321)

Other expenses

Pre‐tenure exploration expenses

(2,737,526)

(385,210)

‐

(3,122,736)

Total segment expenses

(2,843,092)

(385,309)

‐

(3,228,401)

Segment net loss before tax

(2,344,386)

(299,527)

‐

(2,643,913)

439,662

885

‐

440,547

78,150

26,199,878

475,638

26,753,666

Other segment assets

16,250,552

1,371,521

‐

17,622,073

Total segment assets

16,768,364

27,572,284

475,638

44,816,286

748,828

7,689,560

153,212

8,591,600

443,946

885

‐

444,831

78,150

26,199,879

475,638

26,753,668

Segment assets and liabilities as at 30
June 2011
Plant and equipment
Exploration and evaluation assets

Total segment liabilities

Capital expenditure for the year ended
30 June 2011
Plant and equipment
Exploration and evaluation assets
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NOTE 23 OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)
Australia

Indonesia

Tanzania

Total

$

$

$

$

‐

‐

‐

‐

63,470

‐

‐

63,470

‐

‐

‐

‐

Total segment income

63,470

‐

‐

63,470

Depreciation expenses

(7,379)

‐

‐

(7,379)

Segment performance for year ended
30 June 2010
Revenue
Other revenue
Interest revenue
Intersegment income

Pre‐tenure exploration expenses

(206,674)

‐

‐

(206,674)

Other expenses

(622,793)

‐

‐

(622,793)

Total segment expenses

(836,846)

‐

‐

(836,846)

Segment net loss before tax

(773,376)

‐

‐

(773,376)

14,832

‐

‐

14,832

‐

‐

‐

‐

Other segment assets

2,672,102

‐

‐

2,672,102

Total segment assets

2,686,934

‐

‐

2,686,934

47,295

‐

‐

47,295

Plant and equipment

‐

‐

‐

‐

Exploration and evaluation assets

‐

‐

‐

‐

Segment assets and liabilities as at 30
June 2010
Plant and equipment
Exploration and evaluation assets

Total segment liabilities

Capital expenditure for the year ended
30 June 2010

The accounting policies applied for internal reporting purposes are consistent with those applied in the preparation of these
financial statements.
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NOTE 24 ASSET ACQUISITION
Jack Doolan Capital Pty Ltd (JDC) Acquisition
The acquisition was completed on 24 December 2010 with the acquisition of 100% of issued share capital of JDC for the issue of
210,000,000 Cokal shares and 21,000,000 options valued at $3.46 million, being the fair value of the net assets acquired. The
acquisition was treated as an acquisition of an asset as the transaction involved the acquisition of cash and JDC’s options to
purchase exploration tenements in Indonesia.
Consideration paid

3,467,359

Assets acquired:
215,504

Cash and cash equivalents
Exploration and evaluation assets

10,186,576

Payable to Kalimantan vendors

(6,322,686)

Other payables

(612,035)

Total

3,467,359

JDC has entered into contracts (the “JDC Contracts”), comprising the AAK Contract, the AAM Contract, the BBM Contract and the
BBP Contract. Pursuant to the JDC Contracts, JDC has the right to acquire interests in the coal exploration tenements (the “Coal
Projects”), with have, at the date of this report, been acquired, as follows:
Coal project

Ownership interest
(to be) acquired

BBM

50%

BBP

50%

AAK

75%

AAM

75%

Further details on the interests to be acquired were contained in the Explanatory Memorandum lodged with the ASX on 28
October 2010.
Under the JDC Contracts, JDC was to pay US$6.3 million to the vendors of the Kalimantan coal projects (the “Kalimantan
Vendors”), on completion of legal due diligence. This liability has been settled in full at the date of this report. Very limited
technical due diligence on the Coal Projects had been carried out at the time of executing the JDC contracts, as explained in the
Explanatory Memorandum.
The payment of this fee allowed the company to progress to technical due diligence on the projects to determine whether the
tenements (or at least part of them) are of sufficient geological merit to acquire the associated interests in the entities that own
them by the payment of a further US$7 million. The planned technical due diligence was completed and the expenditure
included in exploration and evaluation assets as of 30 June 2011.
At the date of acquisition, JDC held no assets other than cash and the option to acquire the interest in the entities that hold the
Coal Projects.
A decision to proceed with the Coal Projects was made by JDC who has since acquired the interests in the entities that hold the
Coal Projects under the JDC Contracts, and establish joint venture arrangements. JDC has further obligations to make contingent
payments of up to US$23.0 million on the achievement of certain milestones, including the establishment of certain JORC
Inferred Coal Resources, and on the BBM and BBP projects (total US$8.0 million), and the issuance of production operation IUPs
(licences) on the BBM and BBP projects (total US$15.0 million).
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Consolidated

Company

2011

2010

$

$

NOTE 25 CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(a) Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash flow from operating activities
Loss for the year

(2,643,913)

(773,376)

4,344

7,379

‐

50,000

6,772

‐

Gain on sale of tenements

(29,164)

‐

Unrealised foreign exchange gain

(85,782)

Share options expensed

708,700

‐

‐ (Increase)/Decrease in accounts
receivables

(313,618)

(10,670)

‐ Increase/(Decrease) in accounts
payables

337,535

(10,561)

(2,015,126)

(737,228)

Depreciation
Derecognition of capitalised exploration assets
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Net cash flow from operating activities
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NOTE 26 SHARE‐BASED PAYMENTS
The following share based payment arrangements existed at 30 June 2011.
(a) Share‐based payments to directors, executives and employees
During the year ended 30 June 2011 the following options were issued to directors, executives and employees of the Group:
Key management personnel:
- 6,000,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.50, on or before 29 December 2014
- 6,000,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.75, on or before 29 December 2014
Other employees:
- 1,225,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.75, on or before 12 April 2015
- 550,000 unlisted options exercisable at $1.00, on or before 29 June 2015
All of these options were issued by Cokal Limited and entitle the holder to one ordinary share in Cokal Limited for each options
exercised. The options were granted for nil consideration. Once vested, options can be exercised at any time up to the expiry
date.
2011
No. of options

2010

Weighted average
exercise price

No. of options

Weighted average
exercise price *

$
Outstanding at beginning of year

$

5,575,000

0.17

6,100,000

0.16

13,775,000

0.65

‐

‐

Forfeited

‐

‐

‐

‐

Exercised

(2,525,000)

0.18

(525,000)

0.10

‐

‐

‐

‐

Outstanding at year‐end

16,825,000

0.56

5,575,000

0.17

Exercisable at year‐end

3,050,000

0.17

5,575,000

0.17

Granted

Expired

The options outstanding at 30 June 2011 had a weighted average exercise price of $0.56 and weighted average remaining
contractual life of 3.09 years. Exercise prices range from $0.10 to $1.00 in respect of options outstanding at 30 June 2011.
Exercise prices ranged from $0.10 to $0.20 in respect of options exercised during the year ended 30 June 2011.
Pursuant to the Group’s Incentive Option Scheme, if an employee ceases to be any employed by the Group then options will
expire three months from the date employment ceases.
The weighted average fair value of the options granted during the year ended 30 June 2011 was $0.17. This price was calculated
by using a Black Scholes options pricing model applying the following inputs:
2011
Weighted average exercise price
Weighted average life of the option
Underlying share price
Expected share price volatility
Risk free interest rate

$0.65
4 years
$0.53
36.79%
5.46%

The expected life of the options has been taken to be the full period of time from grant date to expiry date. The options pricing
model assumes that options will be exercised on or immediately before the expiry date.
The settlement method for the above options is on a 1:1 basis. During the year ended 30 June 2011, no ordinary shares in Cokal
Limited were issued as a result of the exercise of employee options.
The amount included under Employee Benefits Expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June
2011 is $708,700 (2010: nil).
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NOTE 26 SHARE‐BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
(b) Other share‐based payments
During the year ended 30 June 2011 the Group issued 21,000,000 $0.30 unlisted options expiring 31 December 2012 as part of
the consideration for the acquisition of 100% of the issued share capital of JDC. Further details regarding the JDC acquisition
refer to Note 24.
NOTE 27 EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE
On 13 July 2011 the Group announced that it had signed a ‘Co‐operation Agreement’ with Empresa Moçambicana de Exploração
Mineira (EMEM – Mozambique Mining Exploration Company) to, explore tenements in Mozambique for coal mining potential
and jointly develop mines and associated facilities.
Also, subsequent to year end, 1,470,000 ordinary shares were issued on exercise of options at prices varying between $0.10 and
$0.20 each and 3,000,000 unlisted $1.10 options and 2,000,000 unlisted $1.50 options, exercisable on or before 5 September
2015, were issued to an employee of the Group.
There have been no other events since 30 June 2011 that require disclosure in the financial report as at 30 June 2011.
NOTE 28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those available
to other parties unless otherwise stated.
(a) Parent entity
The parent entity and ultimate controlling entity is Cokal Limited, which is incorporated in Australia.
(b) Subsidiaries
Interests in subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 11.
(c) Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in the Remuneration Report contained in the Directors’ Report
and in Note 5 of the Financial Statements.
(d) Transactions with directors and director‐related entities
During the financial year ended 30 June 2011, Hanna Consulting Services Pty Ltd (of which Pat Hanna is a director) provided to
the Group geological consulting services for the BBM project, Indonesia, including site management, geological staff
recruitment, preparation of field base camp and geological mapping surveys. Hanna Consulting Services Pty Ltd received
$82,821 (2010: nil) for these services during the financial year, including reimbursement of expenses incurred in the provision of
these services. The services were based on normal commercial terms and conditions.
During the financial year ended 30 June 2011, Abbott’s Pty Ltd (of which Bradley Abbott is a director) provided accounting,
taxation and company secretarial services to the Group. The services were based on normal commercial terms and conditions.
Abbotts Pty Ltd received $45,208 (2010: $114,936) for these services during the financial year. Mr Abbott was a director of
Cokal Limited until 24 December 2010.
During the financial year ended 30 June 2011, Jeremy Shervington provided legal services to the Group. The services were
based on normal commercial terms and conditions. Jeremy Shervington received $122,505 (2010: $121,540) for these services
during the financial year. Mr Shervington was a director of Cokal Limited until 24 December 2010.
During the financial year ended 30 June 2010, Oakmeadow Holdings Pty Ltd (of which Godfrey Rule is a director) provided
consulting services to the Group. The services were based on normal commercial terms and conditions. Oakmeadow Holdings
Pty Ltd received $16,772 for these services during the financial year ended 30 June 2010. Mr Rule was a director of Cokal
Limited until 17 November 2009.
Share and option transactions of directors and director‐related entities are shown in Note 5 of the Financial Statements.
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NOTE 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(a) General objectives, policies and processes
In common with all other businesses, the Group is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments. This note
describes the Group objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and the methods used to measure them.
Further quantitative information in respect of these risks is presented throughout these financial statements.
There have been no substantive changes in the Group’s exposure to financial instrument risks, its objectives, policies and
processes for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them from previous periods unless otherwise stated in this
note.
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable, security deposits and accounts
payable.
The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the Group’s risk management objectives and policies and, whilst
retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the authority for designing and operating processes that ensure the
effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the Group’s finance function. The Group’s risk management policies
and objectives are therefore designed to minimise the potential impacts of these risks on the results of the Group where such
impacts may be material.
The overall objective of the Board is to set polices that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without unduly affecting the Group’s
competitiveness and flexibility. Further details regarding these policies are set out below:
(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the other party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge their obligation resulting in the Group
incurring a financial loss. This usually occurs when debtors fail to settle their obligations owing to the Group. The Group’s
objective is to minimise the risk of loss from credit risk exposure.
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period, without taking into account the value of any
collateral or other security, in the event other parties fail to perform their obligations under financial instruments in relation to
each class of recognised financial asset at reporting date, is as follows:

Note

Consolidated

Company

2011

2010

$

$

Cash and cash equivalents

9

17,216,696

2,651,054

Receivables

10

162,839

21,048

Security deposits

15

207,037

‐

17,586,572

2,672,102

Credit risk is reviewed regularly by the Board and the audit committee.
The Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors under financial instruments
entered into by the Group. No receivables balances were past due or impaired at year end. The credit quality of receivables
that are neither past due nor impaired is good. Bank deposits are held with Macquarie Bank Limited, National Australia Bank
Limited and Australia and New Zealand Banking Corporation Limited.
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NOTE 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(c) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may encounter difficulties raising funds to meet financial obligations as they fall due. The
object of managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that the Group will always have sufficient liquidity to meets its
liabilities when they fall due, under both normal and stressed conditions.
Liquidity risk is reviewed regularly by the Board and the audit committee.
The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and liquidity ratios such as working capital. The Group’s
working capital, being current assets less current liabilities has increased from $2,624,807 in 2010 to $9,146,310 in 2011.
Carrying
Amount

Contractual
Cash flows

<6 months

6 – 12
months

1 – 3 years

>3 years

$

$

$

$

$

$

MATURITY ANALYSIS– 2011
Financial Liabilities
-

Accounts payable

8,591,600

8,591,600

8,237,975

30,750

123,000

199,875

Carrying
Amount

Contractual
Cash flows

<6 months

6 – 12
months

1 – 3 years

>3 years

$

$

$

$

$

$

47,295

47,295

47,295

MATURITY ANALYSIS– 2010
Financial Liabilities
-

Accounts payable

‐

‐

‐

Further information regarding commitments is included in Note 21.
(d) Market Risk
Market risk arises from the use of interest bearing, tradable and foreign currency financial instruments. It is the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in interest rates (interest rate risk), foreign
exchange rates (currency risk) or other market factors (other price risk). The entity does not have any material exposure to
market risk other than as set out below.
(i) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises principally from cash and cash equivalents. The objective of interest rate risk management is to manage
and control interest rate risk exposures within acceptable parameters while optimising the return.
Interest rate risk is managed with a mixture of fixed and floating rate debt. For further details on interest rate risk refer to the
tables below:
Floating interest
rate

Fixed interest rate

Non‐interest
bearing

Total carrying amount as
per the statements of
financial position

Weighted average
effective interest rate

2011
$

2011
$

2011
$

2011
$

2011
%

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables

2,491,747

14,724,674

275

17,216,696

4.06%

‐

‐

162,839

162,839

‐

195,376

‐

11,661

207,037

1.12%

2,687,123

14,724,674

174,775

17,586,572

Accounts payable

‐

‐

8,591,600

8,591,600

Total financial liabilities

‐

‐

8,591,600

8,591,600

Security deposits
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities

‐
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NOTE 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(d) Market Risk (continued)
(i) Interest rate risk (continued)
Floating interest
rate

Fixed interest rate

Non‐interest
bearing

Total carrying amount
as per the statements of
financial position

Weighted average
effective interest rate

2010

2010

2010

2010

2010

$

$

$

$

%

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

2,651,054

‐

‐

2,651,054

‐

‐

21,048

21,048

2,651,054

‐

21,048

2,672,102

Accounts payable

‐

‐

47,295

47,295

Total financial liabilities

‐

‐

47,295

47,295

Receivables
Total financial assets

3.45%
‐

Financial liabilities
‐

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk. This sensitivity demonstrates the
effect on the current year results and equity which could result from a change in these risks.
At 30 June 2011 the effect on post profit and equity as a result of changes in the interest rate, with all other variables held
constant, would be as follows:
Carrying Amount
(interest bearing)
$

Increase in interest
rate by 0.5%
$

Decrease in interest
rate by 0.5%
$

2011
Cash and cash equivalents
Security deposits

17,216,421

86,082

(86,082)

195,376

977

(977)

87,059

(87,059)

13,255

(13,255)

Total effect on profit

2010
Cash and cash equivalents
Security deposits
Total effect on profit

2,651,054
‐

‐

‐

13,255

(13,255)

(ii) Currency risk
Exposure to foreign exchange risk may result in the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument fluctuating due to
movement in foreign exchange rates of currencies in which the Group hold financial instruments which are other than the AUD
functional currency of the Group.
The Group is exposed to currency risk on its cash and cash equivalents held (in US dollars and Indonesian Rupiah) in Indonesia as
well as on purchases made from suppliers in Indonesia and Tanzania.
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NOTE 29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(d) Market Risk (continued)
(ii) Currency risk (continued)
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk and the effect on post profit as a result of changes in foreign currency rates, with
all other variables held constant, are as follows:
Indonesian
Rupiah
$A *

US Dollars
$A *

Total
$A *

2011
Cash and cash equivalents

1,024,876

281,448

1,306,324

Accounts payable

(52,176)

(10,333)

(62,509)

Net exposure

972,700

271,115

1,243,815

97,270

27,112

124,382

(97,270)

(27,112)

(124,382)

Cash and cash equivalents

‐

‐

‐

Accounts payable

‐

‐

‐

Net exposure

‐

‐

‐

Effect on post profit:
Increase by 10%

‐

‐

‐

Decrease by 10%

‐

‐

‐

Effect on post profit:
Increase by 10%
Decrease by 10%

2010

* expressed in Australian dollars

(e) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
At 30 June 2011, the fair value of all financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their fair values.
As of 1 July 2009, Cokal Limited has adopted the amendment to AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures which requires
disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:
(a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);
(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices)
or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2); and
(c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).
At 30 June 2011, there are no financial instruments whose fair value were determined using the above valuation technique.
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